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= | Head Quarter: No. 519, Minh Khai Street. Vinh Tuy Ward, Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi City
] Contact Address: 14th Floor, Tower A, Handiresco Building. 521 Kim Ma, Ba Dinh District, Hanoi
8| FPhone: 0243 862 1688; Website: www.vilico.vn
Business Registration Certificate No. 0100104443, issued by the Hanoi Department of Planning
and Investment, | 2th revision dated November 16, 2023

AGENDA OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS (“AGM™)
VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Estimated Time: 13:30 — 17:00, Wednesday, April 23, 2025

Format: Online at No. 10 Tan Trao, Tan Phu Ward, District 7, Ho Chi Minh City
13:30 - 13:35 Shareholder eligibility verification report
13:35 - 13:40 Opening of the Meeting; Introduction of delegates and guests
13:40 - 13:55 - Introduction of the Presidium

- Introduction of the Secretariat
- Approval of the AGM Agenda
- Election of the Vote Counting Committee
13:55 - 14:30 Matiers to be submitted for the General M_c_e:ting of Shareholders’ (*AGM”)
approval:
1. The report of the Board of Directors ("BOD") for 2024
. The report of the Inspection Committee ("IC") for 2024
. The audited 2024 Financial Statements

2
3
4. The audited report on the 2024 capital usage

5. The profit distribution for 2024

6. The revenue and profit guidance for 2025

7. The selection of an independent auditors for fiscal year 2025
8. The remuneration of the BOD and IC for 2025

9. The election of members of the BOD for the 2025-2029 term
10. The election of members of the IC for the 2025-2029 term

14:30 - 15:15 Discussion on the Meeting Agenda matters
15:15-15:25 Voting
15:25-15:30 Announcement of voting results
15:30 - 15:45 Election - o -
15:45 - 15:50 Announcement of voting results
15:50 - 16:00 Approval of the Minutes of the Meeting and Announcement of AGM
Resolutions

16:05 Closing
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and Invesiment, 12th revision dated November 16, 20023

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

MATTER 1: THE AGENDA OF THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors (BOD) respectfully submits to the AGM to approve the agenda of the AGM as
mentioned above.

MATTER 2: THE VOTE COUNTING COMMITTEE

In order to support the Organizing committee in vote counting and election, the BOD respectfully
submits to the AGM to approve the personnel in the Vote Counting Committee as follows:

e Ms. Hoang Thi Ha Head
« Ms. Ho Thi Ngoc Dung Member
s Ms. Nghiem Thi Quyen Independent Member

DETAILED MATTERS SUBMITTED FOR THE AGM’S APPROVAL

MATTER 3: THE REPORT OF THE BOD FOR 2024

(Kindly refer to the detailed information of Report of the BOD presented in the attached Repori).

MATTER 4: THE REPORT OF THE IC FOR 2024

(Kindly refer to the detailed information of Report of the IC presented in the attached Report).

MATTER 5: THE AUDITED 2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited 2024 Financial Statements has been disclosed in accordance with regulations and is also
published on the Company's website at: www.vilico.vn, which includes the following items:

« Report of the Auditor;

« Balance sheet as of December 31, 2024;
* Statement of business results for 2024;
» Cash flow statement for 2024

« Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements
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Among them: Some key indicators of the financial statements are as follows

_' Key indicators 2024 2023 i pdaia (Heriaio)
- (billion VND) actual actual compared to 2023

I | Net Revenue 2.9573 3.152,0 -6.2%

2 | Profit before tax 138,2 3273 -537,8%

3 Profit after tax 117,1 289.1 -59,5%

MATTER 6: THE AUDITED REPORT ON THE 2024 CAPITAL USAGE

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for the approval of the audited report on the use of capital
raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 shares in 2024 as follows:

As of 31/12/2024
(VND)

No. Content

I The amount raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 562.036.132.000

common shares

Il | Capital utilization 562.036.132.000

111 | The remaining amount at the end of the period (I-11) 0

The company's report on the use of funds has been published on the website at
https://www.vilico.vn/thong-tin-khac/,

MATTER 7: PROFIT DISTRIBUTION FOR 2024

Based on the business results for 2024 and the audited Financial Statements of the Company for 2024,
the BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval of the profit distribution for 2024 as follows:

e Retained profit at the beginning of the year : 364.3 billion VND

e Retained profit at the end of the year : 395.2 billion VND

All retained profits as of December 31, 2024, will be retained to strengthen the capital source for
business operations and investment in the Company's key projects. Retaining these profits is aimed at
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ensuring that the company has sufficient financial resources to implement expansion plans, enhance
competitiveness, and optimize value for shareholders in the long term.

MATTER 8: THE REVENUE AND PROFIT GUIDANCE FOR 2025

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval the Company’s consolidated revenue and
profit guidance for 2025 as follows:

No. Key indicators 2025 2024 % compared to the
(billion VND) Guidance Actual 2024 actual

Total revenue 3.3394 29573 12,9%

2 | Profit before tax 1247 1382 -9,8%

3 | Profit afier tax 89.5 27,1 -23,5%

MATTER 9: THE SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR THE 2025 FISCAL
YEAR

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval the list of independent auditor for the fiscal
year 2025 as follows:

+« KPMG Vietnam LLC (KPMG):

e« PwC Vietnam LLC (PwC);

e Emst & Young Vietnam LLC (E&Y):
« Deloitte Vietnam LLC (Deloitte).

The BOD is authorized to select an independent audit entity as one of four audit firms to conduct the
audit for the 2025 fiscal year.

MATTER 10: THE REMUNERATION FOR THE BOD AND IC FOR 2025

The BOD respectfully submits to the AGM for approval the remuneration for the BOD and IC in 2025.
Specifically, as follows:

« Chairperson of BOD : 10,000,000 VND/month;,
e Member of the BOD : 8,000,000 VND/month;
« Head of the IC : 8,000,000 VND/month:
+ Members of the IC  : 6,000,000 VND/month.
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MATTER 11: THE ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOD FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM

Based on the Enterprise Law 2020 and the Company’s Charter, the BOD respectfully submits to the
AGM the election of members of the BOD for the 2025 — 2029 term.

The nomination and self-nomination of candidates procedures for the members of the BOD will be
conducted according to Notice No. 44TB-HPQT/2025 dated March 23, 2025, regarding the
nomination and self-nomination of candidates to be elected as members of the BOD.

The list of candidates and related information will be published no later than April 13, 2025 (10 days
before the AGM) on the Company's website.

MATTER 12: THE ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF IC FOR THE 2025-2029 TERM

Based on the Enterprise Law 2020 and the Company’s Charter, the BOD respectfully submits to the
AGM the election of members of the IC for the 2025 — 2029 term.

The nomination and self-nomination of candidates procedures for the members of the IC will be
conducted according to Notice No. 45/TB-HPQT/2025 dated March 25, 2025, regarding the
nomination and self-nomination of candidates to be elected as members of the IC.

The list of candidates and related information will be published no later than April 13, 2025 (10 days
before the AGM) on the Company's website.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chairwoman

Mai Kieu Lien




VIETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM
CORPORATION JSC Independence — Freedom - Happiness

Ha Noi, March 25, 2025

REPORT OF OPERATIONAL RESULTS
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN 2024
(Submii to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 2025)

The Board of Directors of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (hercinafter referred to as
"Vilico", "VLC", or "the Company") would like to report to the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (FAGM™) on the activities of the Board of Directors (“BOD”) in 2024 with the
following contents:
.  The BOD’s Structure
In 2024, the members of the BOD are as follows:
- Mrs. Mai Kieu Lien: Chairwoman of the BOD;
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam: Member of the BOD (until April 23, 2024);
Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh: Member of the BOD (from April 23, 2024);
Mr. Le Thanh Liem: Member of the BOD;
Mr. Do Hoang Phuc: Member of the BOD;
Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach: Independent Member of BOD.

b

The BOD’s Remuneration and Other Benetits
The remuneration of the BOD paid in 2024 has complied with the Resolution of the 2024
Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders. In this, Mrs, Mai Kieu Lien did not receive any
remuneration in 2024, The remuneration for the remaining members is as follows:

Mr. Le Thanh Liem: 8,000,000 VND/month;

Mr, Trinh Phuong Nam (until April 27, 2024): 8,000,000 VND/month;

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh {from April 27, 2024): 8,000.000 VND/month;

Mr. Do Hoang Phue: 8,000,000 VND/month;

Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach: 8,600,000 VND/month.
In 2024, the Company did not incur any other benefits for the BOD, except for travel
expenses for members of the BOD participating in BOD meetings and the AGM in
accordance with the Company's business trip policy.

3.  Activities of the BGD
In accordance with the resolutions of the 2024 AGM., the BOD and each member of the
Board have carried out the Company's governance activities in compliance with their
functions, powers, and duties as outlined by the law and the Company's Charter.
> Activities of the BOD in 2024 focused on the following areas:
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Approving the 2024 business plan of the Board of Managements for submission to the
AGM for approval and organizing the 2024 AGM;

- Overseeing the implementation of the 2024 business plan;

- Overseeing Vilico's investment activities in subsidiaries, affiliated companies, and other
long-term investments; overseeing the consolidation of Financial Statements on a
quarterly, semi-annual, and annual basis;

- Developing and completing the governance system for operations management, financial
management, and risk management in line with the scale and model of the system,
ensuring the compliance and professionalism, and optimizing the Company's operational
activities;

- Effectively exploiting the land and real estate resources managed and used by Vilico:

- Approving transactions and matters within the BOD's authority.

% All activities of the BOD are carefully reviewed, in compliance with the Enterprise Law,
the Securities Law, and other current legal regulations, as well as the Company's Charter.
ensuring objectivity and transparency based on the rights, obligations, and
responsibilities prescribed by law, while respecting and protecting the legitimate rights
and interests of shareholders.

» In 2024, the BOD held 32 regular and extraordinary meetings, both in-person and online,
and issued 34 Resolutions/Decisions regarding matters related to the Company's business
operations. Information about these resolutions has been disclosed by the Company in its
Corporate Governance Report at: hutps:/www.vilico.vn/wp-
content/uploads/2025/01/V1_BaoCaoQuanTri_2024.pdf. The BOD meetings were
organized and conducted in accordance with the Company's Charter. The Minutes,

Resolutions. and Decisions of the Board of Directors are issued and stored in compliance

with regulations.

Report on the progress of the matters approved in the resolutions of previous Annual
General Meetings of Shareholders but not yet completed:

Report on the implementation of Article 12 of Resolution No. 0172022/VLC/NQ-DHDCD
dated June 8, 2022: "Approval of additional capital contribution to increase the charter
capital of Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Ltd. — a Jjoint venture between the Company and
Sojitz Group (“JVL*) and approval of the transfer of the Tam Dao Project fo VL™

a)  Regarding the increase in VLC's capital contribution to JVL:

e  The registration for the adjustment of the Investment Registration Certificate for
the Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Ltd. (JVL) project has been completed,
adjusting the total investment amount from 46 billion VND to 2.900.3 billion VND
with 4 phases of capital contribution, and the capital contri bution will be
completed by June 30, 2024. The project has been granted the first adjustment of
the Investment Registration Certificate by the Hanoi Department of Planning and
Investment on September 26, 2022.
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b)

<)

The registration for the adjustment of the Investment Registration Certificate for
the Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Ltd. (JVL) project has been completed,
adjusting the schedule for the third phase of capital contribution, specifically
changing the capital contribution deadline from "before December 31, 2023" to
"before March 31. 2024." with the capital contribution to be completed by June
30, 2024. The project has been granted the second adjustment of the Investment
Registration Certificate by the Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on
March 11, 2024;

VLC and Sojitz have also completed 04 phases of capital contribution, increasing
JVL's charter capital from 46 billion VND to 2.900.3 billion VND, as per the
fourth amendment to the Business Registration Certificate issued on July 26, 2024.
The adjustment of the Investment Registration Certificate and the capital
contribution have been carried out in accordance with the investment and
enterprise law regulations.

Regarding the transfer of the Tam Dao Project:

-

On September 5, 2022, the parties signed a Framework Investment Agreement
regarding the investment and transfer of the project.

On September 24, 2024, the parties signed an Amendment to the Framework
Investment Agreement to include the transfer of the operation and management of
each item of the Factory and Farm Area to JVL until VLC completes all conditions
and procedures for the transfer, including: obtaining operating licenses and
registration of assets as construction works on land in the Land Use Rights
Certificate. Once this procedure is completed, the project will be eligible for
transfer, serving as the basis for seeking approval from the relevant State
management authorities for the transfer procedure. The above procedures are
expected to be carried out and completed within 18 months.

Regarding the progress of the Tam Dao Project:

For Area A (Meat Processing Factory):
s Construction volume: 100% completed.
« Installation of machinery and equipment; 100% completed.

Legal procedures for obtaining operating licenses: 100% completed.
s Officially operational from December 17, 2024.

For Area B (Livestock Farm Area):

o Construction volume: 100% completed.

¢ Installation of machinery and equipment: 100% completed.

e Legal procedures for obtaining operating licenses: Ongoing.

e Expected to be officially operational from May 10, 2025.

Total contract value : 1,378 billion VND

(]

o

izl



4.2,

4.3.

- Total amount paid : 1,139 billion VND.

Report on the implementation of Article 13 of Resolution Neo. 01/2022/VLC/NQ-DHDCD

dated June 8, 2022: "Approval of the implementation of the Hung Yen Dairy Factory

Project":

- The project has completed important investment preparation procedures, such as being
granted the In-principle Approval Decision, 1/500 Planning, Environmental Impact
Assessment Report; signed the land lease contract for 50 years; and the feasibility study
report and basic design documents for Phase 1 — Sub-phase 1A have been appraised.

- Q2/2025: Complete submission for approval of Fire Protection for Phase 1 — Sub-phase
A,

- Q3/2025: Complete construction permit issuance.

- From Q4/2025: Start construction of the items in Phase 1 — Sub-phase 1A.

- 2025-2027: Complete construction of the items in Phase | — Sub-phase 1A.

- 2028: Put the entire Sub-phase 1A into operation.

- Total contract value (as of February 2025): 76 billion VND

- Total amount paid (as of February 2025): 64 billion VND.

Note: Due to adjustments in strategic products, there have been some changes in the layout

design, technical aspects, and fire protection, along with changes in the organizational

structure and mergers of central agencies and ministries, which has led to a delay in the
project's timeline by | vear.

Report on the implementation of Article 10 of Resolution No. 01/2023/VLC/NQ-DHDCD
dated April 27, 2023: "Plan for the listing and trading of VLC shares on the Ho Chi Minh
Stock Exchange (HOSE)":
Due to the general market conditions, some of the Company's financial indicators have
not yet met the requirements for listing on HOSE. The Company will continue to
complete the necessary documentation and will proceed with the listing as soon as it
meets the required conditions.

Report on transactions between the Company and related parties

The transactions between the Company and its related parties have been presented and
disclosed in the Audited Financial Statements for 2024, on page 49, as follows:

- Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company

¢ Dividends distributed : 87.9 billion VND
- Moc Chau Dairy Cattle Breeding Joint Stock Company ("Moc¢ Chau Milk")
¢ Sale of goods and services : 0.8 billion VND
* Dividends distributed + 130.5 billion VND
- Japan Vietnam Livestock Co., Lid.
¢ Capital contribution : 751.9 billion VND

e Advances received for project transfer : 786.9 billion VND
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s Sale of goods and services : 1.6 billion VND
e Purchase of goods : 0.06 billion VND
- Vietnam Dairy Cow Co., Ltd.

= Purchase of goods, services, and materials : 0.08 billion VND
- Peterhand Hanoi Livestock Development Co., Ltd.
& Dividends distributed : 1.8 billion VND

The BOD’s assessment of the Company's operational aspects

. Business resulfs in 2024:

The business results in 2024 for the Company mainly came from interest income, capital

divestment, and dividends received from subsidiaries (Moc Chau Milk). In 2024, the

Company received 130.5 billion VND in dividends from Moc Chau Milk. The business

results in 2024 are as follows:

- Parent company: Net revenue reached 5.1 billion VND, 30.7% higher than in 2023, Net
profit afier tax reached 145.7 billion VND, a decrease of 9.1% compared to 2023,

- Consolidated: Net revenue reached 2.957.3 billion VND. a decrease of 6.2% compared
to 2023, achieving 86.8% of the plan (3,408.9 billion VND). Net profit after tax reached
117.1 billion VND, a decrease of 59.5% compared to 2023, achieving 52.9% of the plan
(221.4 billion VND).

Results of the BOD’s oversight of the Board of Managements

The BOD evaluates the performance and capabilities of the Board of Managements ("BOM")

based on the following criteria:

e Achievement of business operation objectives

e General duties of senior management, including:

(1) Responsibility of "Carefulness",

(2) Responsibility of "Honesty and avoiding conflicts of interest”,
(3) Responsibility of "Confidentiality",

(4) Duty of "Care and loyalty."

The BOD comments that the BOM of the Company possesses sufficient experience and

knowledge relevant to their respective fields and responsibilities. They demonstrate a strong

sense of responsibility and good cooperation, and are fully capable of continuing the tasks
assigned by the AGM and the BOD.

The average salary of the General Director in 2024 was 54 million VND/month. The average

salary of employees was 19.5 million VND/person/month.

Results: According to the BOD’s assessment, the BOM made significant efforts and

performed well in fulfilling the business tasks assigned in 2024. This includes compliance

with current legal regulations, the Company's charter and operational regulations, as well as
improving and consolidating the organizational system, controls, and management.

Strategic direction of the BOD for the future




The strategic direction of the BOD for 2025 and the upcoming period is as follows:
Effectively operating the Beef processing plant complex in Tam Dao, Vinh Phuc.
Accelerating the progress of key projects to increase the efficiency of utilizing the
Company's current land plots and bringing value to the Company.

Seeking other investment opportunities to enhance the value for the Company and its

shareholders.

We respectfully submit for the General Meeting of Shareholders to consider and approve./.

ON BEHALF OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CHAIRWOMAN

Mai Kieu Lien




ETNAM LIVESTOCK SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

Independence — Freedom - Happiness

Ha Noi, March 25, 2025

REPORT OF OPERATIONAL RESULTS
OF THE INSPECTION COMMITTEE

(Submit to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in 2025)

In accordance with the functions and duties of the Inspection Committee ("IC") under the law, the
Company’s Charter, and the IC’s Operating Regulations, the IC hereby submits a report on its main
operations in 2024 as follows:

1. Operations of the IC
a) Performance of duties

The IC attended all meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors in 2024. During these
meetings, the IC discussed key issues and provided recommendations to the Board of
Managements to enhance the efficiency of corporate governance and management, risk
management and internal control, oversight of investment projects under
implementation, and the management of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and
affiliates.

The IC has also strictly carried out the inspection and supervision of compliance with
regulations, General Meeting of Shareholders’ resolutions, legal provisions, and the
Company’s internal regulations in the management and operation of the Board of
Directors and the Board of Managements, specifically:

= Reviewing the legality and issuance procedures of the Board of Directors' resolutions
and the disclosure of information in accordance with the laws.

= Supervising and inspecting the implementation of the 2024 business targets set by
the General Meeting of Sharcholders' resolution for the Board of Directors and the
Board of Managements.

* [Examining the reasonableness, accuracy, and prudence in the organization of
financial accounting, statistics, and financial reporting. Reviewing the annual and
semiannual financial reports audited and reviewed by KPMG Vietnam Co., Ltd., as
well as the Company’s quarterly reports (including separate and consolidated
reports).




= [n 2024, the IC has not recorded any violations regarding the responsibilites and
obligation of the manager of the company.

b) Salaries, remuneration, operating expenses, and other benefits of the Inspection
Committee in 2024

=

In 2024, the Company’s IC consisted of three members.

The remuneration of the IC paid in 2024 was in compliance with the resolution of the
2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, as detailed below:

= Ms Ha Thi Dieu Thu (Head of the IC), until April 23, 2024: 8.000.000 VND/month

= Mrs Tran Thai Thoai Tran (Head of the IC), from April 23, 2024: 8.000.000
VND/month

= Mr. Trinh Cong Son (member) :6.000.000 VND/month
= Mr. Truong Anh Vu (member) :6.000.000 VND/month

There were no additional benefits provided to the Inspection Committee in 2024.

2. Results of the supervision of the Board of Directors and the Board of Managements for

operations
a) The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has duly and fully fulfilled its management responsibilities in
strict compliance with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Company's
Charter, the Resolution of the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders, and other
relevant regulations.

In 2024, the Board of Directors held quarterly meetings as required by law and the
Company's Charter. The Board of Directors operated actively and effectively, working
closely with the Board of Managements to establish strategic directions and promptly
address arising issues related to the Company's business operations, particularly
recommendations and proposals concerning corporate governance, management, project
implementation, and supervision.

The Board of Directors' resolutions were issued in accordance with its authority. ensuring
compliance with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Company's Charter,
the Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders Resolutions, and other applicable
regulations.

b) Board of Managements

Excutive and managerial activities:

= Together with the Board of Managements, the General Director has fully and
promptly implemented the decisions and resolutions of the Board of Directors and
the General Meeting of Shareholders, effectively executing the Company’s business




plan. The General Director has proactively developed management and operational
plans, optimizing the Company’s organizational and management structure.

* The Board of Managements of the Company has organized meetings to discuss and
implement the business plans of the Company. its subsidiaries, and affiliated
companies. Additionally, it has provided directives, corrective action, and remedial
measures to address shortcomings in management and business operations, based on
recommendations and feedback from the Inspection Committee.

Risk management activities, particularly the risks related to the implementation of strategic
projects, have been closely monitored. The Board of Managements ensured timely updates
and reports to the Board of Directors and the Inspection Committee, along with appropriate
response plans,

Evaluation of the coordination between Inspection Committee, the Board of Directors, the

Board of Managements, Shareholders

In 2024, the IC received close and effective cooperation from the Board of Directors, the
General Director, and the Board of Managements. It was also provided with the necessary
conditions to fulfill its supervisory duties through full and timely access to relevant
documents and information concerning the company’s corporate governance, business

operations, and financial position

The IC has closely coordinated with the Board of Directors and the General Director in
regularly attending quarterly meetings to ensure timely measures are taken to address
existing issues, enhance management effectiveness, and ensure full compliance with
applicable legal regulations.

Audit of the 2024 Financial Statements

The IC has reviewed the semiannual and annual financial statements for 2024, which were
reviewed/audited by KPMG Limited Company Co. Ltd. and concurred with these reports.

According to the assessment conclusion of the IC, the separate financial statements of Vilico
and the consolidated financial statements of Vilico and its subsidiaries present a true and fair
view, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting standards, the Vietnamese
corporate accounting standards, and relevant legal regulations on the preparation and
presentation of financial statements

Recommendations and Conelusion

a) Recommendations: The IC makes the following main recommendation:

- Continue to strengthen and continuously improve the organizational structure, as well as
refine internal management processes, regulations, and policies to enhance the efficiency
of the Company's management and business operations.
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- Establish a risk management framework and a risk warning mechanism at the group
level; implement these across all levels of the Company and its subsidiaries to ensure
uniform and consistent application; maintain and improve the effectiveness of the two-
tier control mechanism (self-control & inspection), with a particular focus on

continuously enhancing the self-control mechanism

- Main projects and strategic initiatives should continue to strengthen risk management, be
closely monitored, and be promptly reported to the Board of Directors and the Inspector
Committee.

b) Conclusion

Through supervision and inspection, the IC acknowledges that the Company's activities in

2024 have complied with the Law on Enterprises, the Law on Securities, the Company's

Charter, relevant regulations, and have duly implemented the resolutions of the General

Meeting of Shareholders and the resolutions of the Board of Directors.

We respectfully submit this report to the General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and
approval.

ON BEHALF OF INSPECTOR COMMITTEE
HEAD OF COMMITTEE

[

Trén Thai Thoai Trin
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REGULATION ON ORGANIZATION
OF THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
OF VIETNAM LIVESTOCK CORPORATION - JSC

Pursuant to:

(i) Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14, passed by the National Assembly of the Socialist
Republic of Vietnam on June 17%, 2020, effective from January 1*, 2021; and other relevant
legislative documents;

(ii)  Law No. 03/2022/0H15 amending and supplementing a number of articles of the Law on
Public Investment, Law on Investment in the Form of Public-Private Partnership, Law on
Investment, Housing Law, Bidding Law, Electricity Law, Law on Enterprises, Law on Excise
Tax and the Law on Enforcement of Civil Judgments, passed by the National Assembly of the
Socialist Republic of Vietnam on January 11", 2022, effective from March 1%, 2022;

(iii)  Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QHI14, passed by the National Assembly of the Socialist

Republic of Vietnam on November 26", 2019, effective from January 1*, 2021 and other
relevant legislative documents;

(iv)  The current Charter of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (“Charter”); and

(v) The current Internal Regulation on Corporate Governance of Vietnam Livestock Corporation
- JSC (“Regulation on Corporate Governance”).

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC is
organized and implemented in accordance with the Regulation on Organization of the 2025 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders (referred to as the “Regulation™) as follows:
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CHAPTERI
GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 1. GOVERNING SCOPE AND APPLICABLE ENTITIES

This Regulation applies to the organization of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (*GMS™) of Vietnam Livestock Corporation - JSC (“Company” or “Vilico™) in
the form of the Online Meeting (as defined under Clause 8 of Article 2 below) and regulates the
Voting and Election by Shareholders by E-Voting (as defined under Clause 4 of Article 2 below)
at the Online Meeting.

This Regulation specifies the rights and obligations of Shareholders and parties attending the
Online Meeting; conditions and procedures for conducting the Online Meeting: voting method
to pass resolutions on matters falling within the power of the GMS and election of members of
the Board of Directors and the Inspection Committee.

Shareholders, their Representatives and attending parties shall be responsible for complying
with the provisions of this Regulation.

ARTICLE 2. DEFINITIONS

s

“Organizing Committee™: means the committee established to prepare and organize the Online
Meeting.

“Election”: means the exercise by Shareholders/Representatives of their rights to select one or
more candidates to be members of the Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as “BOD™)
and the Inspection Committee (hereinafter referred to as “IC™).

“Voting”: means the exercise by Sharcholders/Representatives of their rights to vote on specific
matters within the decision-making authority of the GMS.

“E-Voting™ means the Voting and Election conducted by Sharcholders/Representatives
through the Online System.

“Representative”: means anyone legally appointed by a Shareholder in writing to attend the
Online Meeting and conduct E-Voting.

“Agenda™ means the matters included in the agenda of the GMS for
Shareholders/Representatives to conduct the Voting and Election.

“Shareholder”: means the owner of Vilico’s share(s), whose name is included in the list of
shareholders entitled to attend the GMS as of the final registration date (i.e. March 11, 2025),
as provided by Vietnam Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation.
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8.

“Online Meeting”: means the form of organizing the using electronic means to connect,
transmit audio and visual through the internet, allowing Shareholders/Representatives from
different locations to attend, follow the meeting’s progress, discuss and vote on the matters of
the GMS and elect the members of the BOD and IC.

“Registration to Attend the Online Meeting”: means the process where
Shareholders/Representatives log into the Online System and perform shareholder verification
to attend the Online Meeting.

“Venue of the Online Meeting”™: means the location (on site) where the Chairperson attends
and presides over the Online Meeting.

“Online System™": means the combination of technical infrastructure (including but not limited
to hardware devices, applications, software/website) set up and used by the Company to
organize the Online Meeting and conduct E-Voting. Shareholders/Representatives can access
the Online System to register to attend the Online Meeting, follow the meeting’s progress,
discuss and conduct the Voting and the Election via E-Voting.

“Opening Time of Online System™ means the starting time  when
Shareholders/Representatives are allowed to access the Online System to register to attend
Online Meeting and conduct the Voting and Election via E-Voting. The Online System shall be
officially opened from 8:00 AM on April 21%, 2025 (Vietnam time).

CHAPTER 11
RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES ATTENDING
AT THE ONLINE MEETING

ARTICLE 3. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR
REPRESENTATIVES

)

Shareholders/Representatives are entitled to attend the Online Meeting, conduct the Voting and
Election in accordance with the provisions of the Charter, this Regulation and instructions of
the Organizing Committee of the GMS.

Sharcholders/Representatives are entitled to express their opinions and discuss at the GMS
through the Online System in accordance with Article 10 of this Regulation.

Shareholders are able to log in to the Online System, follow the GMS’s progress on electronic
devices (for example: computers, laptops, cellphones, etc.) and/or conduct E-Voting through
the Online System.
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In case the Shareholder authorizes a Representative to attend the Online Meeting and conduct
the E-Voting in accordance with the provisions of the applicable laws, the Charter and this
Regulation, upon receipt of a valid power of attorney, the Company shall grant the authorization
for such Representative to access the Online Meeting and attend the Online Meeting in the name
of aforesaid Shareholder.

If Shareholders have delegated authority to the Representative to attend and exercise
shareholder rights and obligations at the Online Meeting. that Shareholder can still log into the
Online System to follow the progress of the meeting and join the discussion session at the
Online Meeting. however, they cannot conduct the E-Voting. Shareholders are fully responsible
for the delegation of authority and the result of E-Voting on the Company’s Online System.

Shareholders/Representatives are responsible for keeping their personal information and other
identification information by the Company (such as authentication code, OTP code. etc.) in
strict confidence to ensure that only the Shareholders and/or Representatives can access the
Online System to attend, discuss, give opinions and conduct E-Voting using the Online System.

The Shareholders/Representatives shall comply with the provisions of the applicable laws, the
Charter, this Regulation and the Chairperson’s management during the Online Meeting and
respect the result of the Online Meeting. Shareholders/Representatives shall not cause any
disturbance or disorder during the Online Meeting.

ARTICLE 4. PRESIDING COMMITTEE

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors is the chairperson of the Online Meeting
(“Chairperson”) with the support from other members of the Board of Directors (at the request
of the Chairperson) to participate in conducting the Online Meeting (“Presiding Committee™).

The members of the Presiding Committee follow the directions/instructions of the Chairperson
in dicussing issues related to the conduct of the Online Meeting. In any case, the Chairperson's
decision is the final decision.

The Presiding Committee supports the Chairperson in presiding over the Online Meeting in
accordance with the provisions of this Regulations and the Agenda approved by the GMS.

The Presiding Committee has the right to take necessary and reasonable measures to direct the
conduct of the Online Meeting in an orderly manner, correctly in accordance with the program

as passed, and so that it reflects the wishes of the majority of attendees.
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ARTICLE 5. THE SECRETARIAT

1.

The Chairperson shall appoint one or more persons to act as the Secretariat of the Online
Meeting (“Secretariat™). '

The Secretariat shall perform the following tasks:

a)

b)

d)

Receive and collect the opinions of Shareholders/Representatives during the Online
Meeting and submit them to the Presiding Committee.

Record thoroughly and accurately all proceedings of the Online Meeting and any matters
approved by the Shareholders/the Representatives or any matters that still require attention
at the Online Meeting;

Draft the meeting minutes and resolutions on the matters approved at the Online Meeting;

Perform such other tasks as may be assigned by the Chairperson in connection with the
Online Meeting.

ARTICLE 6: SHAREHOLDER ELIGIBILITY VERIFICATION COMMITTEE

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee serves as the assistant to the Organizing

Committee of the GMS. The number and composition of the Shareholder Eligibility

Verification Committee are decided by the Organizing Committee.

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee is responsible for;

a)
b)

Reviewing powers of attorney provided by Shareholders to the Company:

Verifying the eligibility of Shareholders and Representatives attending the Online
Meeting in accordance with provisions of the applicable laws, the Charter and this
Regulation; and

The Head of the Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee reports to the GMS on
the number of Shareholders attending the Online Meeting and declares the opening of the
Online Meeting when the conditions for conducting the Online Meeting stipulated in
Clause 1 Article 9 of this Regulation are satisfied.

ARTICLE 7: VOTE COUNTING COMMITTEE

The Vote Counting Committee shall consist of three (03) persons comprising one (01) Head
and two (02) members, as proposed by the Chairperson and approved by Shareholders.

The Vote Counting Committee has the following rights and obligations:
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a) Instructing Shareholders/Representatives on how to cast their votes and election at the
Online Meeting by E-Voting.

b)  Counting the voting ballots and election ballots:
¢) Preparing and announcing the minutes of vote counting before the GMS;

d)  Being responsible for the honesty and accuracy of the vote-counting results.

CHAPTER III
ORDER AND PROCEDURES OF THE ONLINE MEETING AND CONDUCTING
THE E-VOTING

ARTICLE 8: REGISTRATION FOR ATTENDING THE ONLINE MEETING

I+

Shareholders will conduct the registration for attending the Online Meeting in accordance with
specific instructions posted on the Company's website at the address: https://www.vilico.vn/

Delegation of authority to attend the Online Meeting:

a)  Sharcholders may delegate all or part of their voting shares to any organizations or
individuals (“Representative(s)”) to attend the Online Meeting and/or conduct E-Voting
on their behalf.

b)  The delegation of authority takes effect and is considered valid when it fully meets the
following conditions:

(i) Shareholders have not accessed and conducted Voting and/or Election on the Online
System of the Company.

(ii) The delegation of authority must be made in writing (either using the template of
power of attorney provided by the Company or Shareholders’ own template), clearly
specifving the name of the individual/organization being delegated, the number of
shares being delegated. and must be signed and stamped (if applicable) by both the
delegating and the delegated parties.

(iii) The Company must receive the valid power of attomey no later than April 227,
2025. Power of attorney may be sent to the Company by email, or by post or
guaranteed delivery services.

¢) Revocation of delegation of authority: if a Shareholder wishes to revoke their valid
delegation of authority, the Shareholder must send a written notice of such revocation to
the Company (delivered in person, sent by email, by post or guaranteed delivery services)
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2.

no later than April 22™, 2025. The revocation will take effect from the time the Company
receives the valid written notice from the Shareholders.

Shareholders/Representatives shall access the link provided by the Company to verify their
identity as shareholders, attend the Online Meeting and conduct E-Voting.

ARTICLE 9. VERIFICATION OF SHAREHOLDERS’ ELIGIBILITY AND CONDITIONS
FOR CONDUCTING THE ONLINE MEETING

1.

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee bases on:

(1) the number of Shareholders/Representatives who have conducted E-Voting on the Online
System from the Opening Time of Online System until the expected opening time of the
meeting (1:30 PM on April 23", 2025); and

(2) the number of Shareholders/Representatives who succesfully logged into the Online
System to register their attendance at the Online Meeting from 12:00 PM to 1:30 PM on
April 2374, 2025.

to determine the total number of Shareholders/Representatives attending the Online Meeting at
the opening time of the meeting, thereby determining the total number of shares represented by
such Shareholders/Representatives in order to determine the condition for opening and
conducting the Online Meeting in accordance with Clause 3 Article 9 of this Regulation.

The Shareholder Eligibility Verification Committee reports to the GMS on the total number of
Shareholders/Representatives attending the Online Meeting, the total number of shares
represented by such Shareholders/Representatives and the attendance rate at the opening time
in order to confirm that the condition for opening the meeting is fully met.

The Online Meeting will be held when the number of Shareholders/Representatives attending
the Online Meeting represents at least 50% of the total number of voting shares of the Company
(pursuant to the list of Shareholders as of the final registration date, i.e. March 11", 2025,
provided by the Vietnam Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation).

ARTICLE 10. DISCUSSION AND QUERIES AT THE ONLINE MEETING

Shareholders/Representatives shall conduct discussion following the instruction of the
Chairperson during the Online Meeting.

Shareholders/Representatives can discuss at the Online Meeting by directly speaking or
submitting questions/opinions to the Presiding Committee through the Online System. The
Secretariat is responsible for collecting and summarizing the questions and opinions of
Shareholders/Representatives and forwarding them to the Presiding Committee.
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The discussion with Shareholders/Representatives and the question-and-answer session is

conducted in accordance with the principles and methods as follows:

a)  Chairperson will base on the meeting schedule to arrange and manage the speech of
Shareholders/Representatives.

b)  Sharcholders/Representatives should speak clearly and focus on the approved Agenda.
The Chairperson has the authority to remove question of Shareholders/Representatives
from the discussion session and/or stop the speech of Shareholders/Representatives if he
deems the comments or questions to be repetitive and/or not related to the Agenda.

¢) In case the discussion exceeds the meeting schedule, unanswered questions will be
recorded by the Secretariat and the Presiding Committee may answer them later by email
or other appropriate forms in accordance with the provisions of the Charter and applicable

laws.

ARTICLE 11. VOTING TO APPROVE THE MATTERS OF THE ONLINE MEETING

Shareholders/Representatives shall exercise the voting right at the Online Meeting by E-Voting
in accordance with the provisions of this Regulation.

Shareholders/Representatives shall exercise their voting right on the Online System set up by
the Company.

Time of Voting:
Sharcholders/Representatives can conduct the E-Voting at any of the following times:

(i) from the Opening Time of Online System and before the opening time of the Online
Meeting; and/or

(ii) Voting directly at the Online Meeting (from the opening time and follow the proceeding
of the Online Meeting).

Shareholders/Representatives who have conducted the E-Voting can change their voting
opinion, but this change must be made before the closing of the E-Voting session. From the
closing of the E-Voting, the voting session on the Online System will be closed, and
Shareholders/Representatives shall not have the right to change their votes. The Company will
record the final voting result of Shareholders/Representatives on the Online System.

a)  The time for voting on issues under the Agenda of the Online Meeting will be announced
by the Chairperson. Shareholders/Representatives must ensure to cast their votes before
the end of the voting period.

Ting Céng tv Chin nuii Vigt Nam - CTCP
iz chi: $6 §19, Dubmg Minh Khai, Phurimg Vinh Tuy, Quén Hai Bi Tnmyg, Thanh phd Ha Noi
Dign thoai: (024) 3 862 K763 Website: www vilico vn




b)

Shareholders or Representatives who attend the Online Meeting after the opening of the
meeting still have the right to participate in voting. In such cases, the validity of any item
which was previously voted on will not be affected.

Implementation of Voting:

a)

b)

c)

After successfully accessing the Online System, Shareholders/Representatives can vote
on items of the Agenda by E-Voting.

Shareholders/Representatives cast their votes by marking one (01) of three (03)
corresponding boxes “Approve”, “Disapprove”, “Abstain” for each item of the Agenda
to be voted on.

The voting results will only be counted when Shareholders/Representatives have
completed voting on all items of the Agenda and submitted the voting results through the
Online System.

Shareholders/Representatives encountering any problems with E-Voting on the Online
System may contact the hotline number as notified by the Organizing Committee for
guidance and support in completing the voting process.

Result of vote counting

a)

b)

¢)

d)

The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for checking the results of E-Voting to
record the voting results of all Shareholders/Representatives attending and voting at the
Online Meeting.

Voting results will be determined for each item of the Agenda and calculated as a
percentage (%) rounded to two (02) decimal places.

The voting results will be recorded in the Minutes of vote counting and announced
immediately by the Vote Counting Committee during the Online Meeting. The Minutes
of vote counting will be signed by the members of the Vote Counting Committee to
confirm its accuracy, clarity and compliance with the principles and order of vote
counting.

The Minutes of vote counting must clearly specify the following contents:

— The total number of shares with voting rights of all Shareholders who attended and
casted their votes at the Online Meeting;

— Total number of shares that voted “Approve”, “Disapprove” and “Abstain™ for each
voting item and the corresponding percentage (%) of the total number of shares of all
Shareholders who attended and casted their votes at the Online Meeting; and

— Issues which have been approved by the GMS.
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ARTICLE 12. ELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
INSPECTION COMMITTEE

1. Rules for electing members of the BOD/IC:

a) The election of members of the Board of Directors shall be conducted by the method of
cumulative voting, whereby each Sharecholder has a total number of votes equivalent to
the total number of voting shares multiplied by the total number of members to be elected
to the Board of Directors (Note: At the 2025 GMS of the Company, the total number of
BOD members to be elected is five (05) members, the total number of IC members to be
elected is three (03) members).

For example: Shareholder named as Mr. Nguyen Van A has 10,000 voting shares. The
total number of votes of Mr. Nguyen Van A is 50,000 votes for BOD members” Election
and 30,000 votes for IC members’ Election.

b)  Shareholders/Representatives will conduct the election of members of the BOD/IC
through the Online System by E-Voting.

Shareholder/Representatives may (1) give all of their total votes to a particular candidate:
or (2) distribute their votes to the selected candidates with each specific number of votes:
or (3) distribute evenly to selected candidates. Sharcholder/Representatives may also
distribute a portion of their total votes to one or several candidates, the remaining votes
may not vote for any other candidates. The Sharcholder/Representatives shall distribute
their votes to the candidates in accordance with the instructions described on the Online
System and/or by the Head of the Vote Counting Committee.

2. Rules for determining the election results: The Organizing Committee of the GMS will rely on
the number of votes calculated from the highest to the lowest to determine the candidates elected
to the BOD/IC. This process will start from the candidate with the highest number of votes and
continue until the required number of members of the BOD/IC are elected and must ensure to
meet the minimum number of the independent members of the BOD in accordance with
applicable laws and the Charter. A candidate elected to the BOD/IC must have at least one (01)

vole.

In particular, Independent candidate will be selected first (calculated according to the number
of votes from the highest to the lowest separately for independent candidate). After reaching
the minimum number of independent members as prescribed (at least 1 person), the selection
of the remaining members of the BOD will be determined according to the rules mentioned

above.
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In the event that there are two (02) or more candidates with the same number of votes for the
last position of the BOD:

(1)

(i)

(iii)

If those candidates are also Shareholders, the candidate holding more shares will be

given priority for the selection.

If the candidates are not Shareholders, the candidate with a higher number of terms as a
member of the BOD will be given priority for the selection. In case of equal terms, the
candidate with more years of BOD members will be selected.

In the event that a candidate cannot be selected based on the criteria (i) and (ii)
mentioned above, the GMS will conduct a re-Election for the candidates with an equal
number of votes to select the candidate with the highest number of votes to become the
final member of the BOD,

In the event that there are two (02) or more candidates with the same number of votes for the

last position of the IC:

(i)

(i)

The candidate with a higher number of terms as a member of the 1C will be given priority
for the selection. In case of equal terms, the candidate with more years of [C members

will be selected.

In the event that a candidate cannot be selected based on the criteria (i) and (ii)
mentioned above, the GMS will conduct a re-Election for the candidates with an equal
number of votes to select the candidate with the highest number of votes to become the
final member of the IC.

Election time:

Shareholders/Shareholders' Representatives can conduct the election:

(M)

(ii)

from the Opening Time of Online System and before the opening time of the Online

Meeting; or

directly at the Online Meeting (from the opening time until the closing of the election
session as announced by the Chairperson).

Counting and announing election results:

a)

The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for counting the election results and

preparting the Minutes of vote counting. The minutes of vote counting shall be signed by

the members of the Vote Counting Committee to confirm the accuracy, transparency and

compliance with the principles and order of vote counting.

The Minutes of vote counting must have the following contents:

Name and number of votes received for each candidate.
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— Information about the newly elected member of the BOD and IC.

b) The Head of the Vote Counting Committee shall, on behalf of the Chairperson, announce
the election results at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

ARTICLE 13. PASSING RESOLUTIONS OF THE GMS

Resolutions of the GMS on Agenda issues presented at the Online Meeting shall be passed in
accordance with the specific percentage as specified in the Article 21 of the Charter.

ARTICLE 14. MINUTES OF MEETING

1. All contents at the Online Meeting shall be recorded by the Secretariat in the Minutes of
meeting.

2. The Minutes of meeting of the GMS must be announced to and approved by the GMS before
the closing of the GMS.

c

x

CHAPTER IV
IMPLEMENTATION

ARTICLE 15. IMPLEMENTATION TERM

This Regulation shall take effect upon the date of signing by the Chairperson and shall be applied at
the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Sharcholders of Vietnam Livestock Corporation-JSC held on
April 23, 2025.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mai Kieu Lien
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Statement of the Board of Management

The Board of Management of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the
Corporation™) presents this statement and the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation for the year ended 31 December 2024,

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting. In the opinion of the Corporation’s Board of Management:

(a)  the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 5 to 50 give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Corporation as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated results of operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for
Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial reporting; and

(b) at the date of this statement. there is no reason to believe that the Corporation and its
subsidiaries will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Management has, on the date of this statement, authorised the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for issue.

General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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KPMG

KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72
E6 Pham Hung Street, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
+84 (24) 3946 1600 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation”), which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the year
then ended and the explanatory notes thereto which were autherised for issue by the Corporation's
Board of Management on 20 March 2025, as set out on pages 5 to 50.

Management’s Responsibility

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting, and for such internal control as the Board of
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’'s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. Ve conducted our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation’s Board of Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

KPMG Limited, a Vistnamese cra member imited [inbility company and & member firm of the 3
KPMG global organizadon of independent member firme affiliated with KPMG Intermational Limited,
a private English company limited by guarantee. ANl rights: resarved
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KPMG

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material
respects, of the consolidated financial position of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock
Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated results of operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese
Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial
reporting.

KPMG Limited
Vietnam

Phan My Linh
Practicing Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 3065-2024-007-1 Certificate No. 3064-2024-007-1

Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024

ASSETS

Current assets
(100 =110+ 120 + 130 + 140 + 150)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash
Cash equivalents

Short-term financial investments
Held-to-maturity investments

Accounts receivable — short-term
Accounts receivable from customers
Prepayments to suppliers
Other receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts

Inventories
Inventories
Allowance for inventories

Other current assets
Short-term prepaid expenses
Deductible value added tax
Taxes and others receivable from
State Treasury

Code

100

110
111
112

120
123

130
131
132
136
137

140
141
149

150
151
152

153

Note

4

5(a)

|

8(a)

10

15(a)

19(a)

Form B 01 — DN/HN
{(Tlssued under Circular No. 202:2014/TT-BTC

13.599,703,345

23.617,623,458

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
4,077,377,193,831 4,395,841,797,909
420,708,312,481 1,333,640,975,908
80,708.312,481 165,271,086,233
340,000,000,000 1,168,369,889.675
2,989,300,000,000 2,212,175,239,600
2,989,300.,000,000 2,212,175,239,600
360,531,392,858 565,559,399,399
212,957,874,264 209.426,858,305
55,078.818,716 199,127,134,212
98,189,135,545 161,105,281,882
(5.694.435,667) (4,099.875,000)
259,498,755,477 210,159,908,095
264.,793,078,934 213,712,842,801
(5.294,323,457) (3.552,934,706)
47,338,733,015 74,306,274,907
10,121,406,212 8,294.,069.928

24,173.581,908

41,838.623,071

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Long-term assets
(200 =210 + 220 + 240 + 250 + 260)

Accounts receivable — long-term
Other long-term receivables

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumudated depreciation
Intangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Long-term work in progress
Long-term work in progress
Construction in progress

Long-term financial investments
Investments in associates
Equity investments in other entities
Allowance for diminution in the value
of long-term financial investments
Held-to-maturity investments

Other long-term assets
Long-term prepaid expenses
Goodwill

TOTAL ASSETS
(270 = 100 + 200)

Code

200

210
216

220
221
222
223
227
228
229

240
241
242

250
252
253

254
255

260

261
269

270

Form B 01 — DN/HN

{Issued under Circular No. 202/ 2014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 20114 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024
Note VND
2,738,207,494,178
635,015,165
8(b) 635,015,165

1,481,985,359,926

11 1,074.641,512.241
2,083,591,673,878
(1,008,950,161,637)

12 407,343.,847.685
695.143,808,579
(287,799,960,894)

1/1/2024
YND

1,518,694,296,782

309,215,750
309,215,750

940,851,444,594
498,591,750,755
1,446,050,753,948
(947,459,005,193)
442,259,693.839
694,627,026,579
(252,367,332,740)

239,769,884,354
11,324,330,731
228,445,553,623

180,672,273,260
173,121.453.660
29,845.631.927

(22,294,812,327)

157,091,478,824
18.814,363.410
138,277,115,414

884,968,336,598
13 20,571.420,405
14 864,396,916,193
252,487,650,621

5(b) 172.403.931,021
5(c) 22,378,531,927
5(c) (22.294,812,327)
5(a) 80,000,000,000
118,131,131,868

15(b) 25,946,388,259
17 92,184,743,609
6,815,584,688,009

5,914,536,094.691

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 01 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 20114 of the Ministry of Finance)

Prepared by:

="

Hoang Manh Cuong
Chief Accountani

20 March 2025

Nguyen Duc Nam
Deputy General Director

General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Code Note VND VND
RESOURCES
LIABILITIES (300 = 310 + 330) 300 807,906,907,427 507,288,445,735
Current liabilities 310 698,534,532,775 383,348,951,078 :
Accounts payable to suppliers 311 18 381.,625.195,442 153,446,507,473 I
Advances from customers 312 4,698.071,846 2,253,225.266 )
Taxes and others payable to 3
State Treasury 313 19(b) 0,661,048,509 3,221,153.642 !
Payables to employees 314 23,294.510.881 20,834,169.802 ]
Accrued expenses 315 20 98,563.294.515 86,962.286,651 :
Other payables — short-term 319  2l(a) 6,352,960,875 22.,519,295,983 g
Short-term borrowings 320 22 99,000,000.000 - !
Provisions — short-term 321 2,461,920,000 2,232,994,560 i
Bonus and welfare fund 322 23 72,877.530,707 91,879,317,701
Long-term liabilities 330 109,372,374,652 123,939,494,657
Other payables — long-term 337 21(b) 722,927,552 1.063,378.252
Deferred tax liabilities 341 16(a) 105.,494,756.743 119,587.417,399
Provisions — long-term 342 3,154,690,357 3.288.699.006
EQUITY (400 = 410) 400 6,007,677,780,582 5,407,247,648,956
Owners’ equity 410 24 6,007,677,780,582 5,407,247,648.956
Share capital 411 25 2,124,916,110,000 2,124,916,110,000
- Ordinary shares with voting rights ~ 411la 2,124,916,110,000 2.124,916,110,000
Share premium 412 1,192,426.603,378 1,192,426,603,378
Other capital 414 37.813.265.256 37.813.265,256
Differences upon asset revaluation 416 (64,809,947,101) (64,809.947,101)
Investment and development fund 418 27 116,421.721,734 132,180,196,331 ’;
Retained profits 42] 122,473,412,211 368,973,120,483 -
- Retained profits brought forward 421a 81,379,034,433 280,414,103,359 ch
- Profit for the current year 421b 41,094,377, 778 88,359,017 124 m
Non-controlling interest 429 2.478.436.615,104 1.615,748,300,609 KI
TOTAL RESOURCES -
(440 = 300 + 400) 440 6,815,584.688,009 5,914,536,094.691 5‘5



Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 02 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code Note VND VND
Revem-le from sales of goods and provision 01 29 2,959,887,011,881 3,154,135,415,593
of services
Revenue deductions 02 29 2,553,967,539 2,130,324,193
Net revenue (10 = 01 - 02) 10 29 2,957,333,044,342 3,152,005,091,400
Cost of sales 11 30 2,187.391,794,409 2,205,689,908,842
Gross profit (20=10-11) 20 769,941,249,933 946,315,182,558
Financial income 21 31 210,038,846.800 266,335,775,571
Financial expenses 22 1,964,157,193 951,991,578
In which: Interest expense 23 1,732,481,808 -
Share of profit/(loss) in associates 24 1,082,477.361 (13.370,328,202)
Selling expenses 25 32 680.453,920,008 725,680.,456,134
General and administration expenses 26 33 155,092,466,161 143.451,212,742
Net operating profit
(30 =20 + (21 - 22) + 24 - (25 + 26)} 30 143,552,030,732 329,196,969,473
Other income 31 34 16.343,611.016 17.468,070,584
Other expenses 32 35 21,686,813,485 19,361.117,580
Results of other activities (40 = 31 - 32) 40 (5.343,202,469) (1,893,046,996)
Accounting profit before tax
(50 = 30 + 40) 50 138,208,828,263 327,303,922.477
Income tax expense — current 51 37 35,251,255.464 51,858,741.,460
Income tax benefit — deferred 52 37 (14,092,660,655) (13,662,933,640)
Net profit after tax
(60 =50-51-52) 60 117,050,233,454 289,108,114,657

(carried forward fo next page)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

Form B 02 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No. 202201 4/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023

Code Note VND VND

Net profit after tax

(60 =50-51-52) 60 117,050,233,454 289,108,114,657
(brought forward from previous page)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 61 54,135,679,570 156,602,643,769
Non-controlling interest 62 62,914,553,884 132,505.470,888

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 70 38 193 689

20 March 2025

Prepared by: Reviewed by:

Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen'Duc Nam s - 1P6an Quoc Khanh
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Indirect method)

Code

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 01
Adjustments for
Depreciation 02
Allowances and provisions 03

Exchange losses arising from revaluation of
monetary items denominated in

foreign currencies 04
Profits from investing activities 05
Interest expense 06
Operating profit before changes in 08
working capital
Change in receivables 09
Change in inventories 10
Change in payables and other
liabilities 11
Change in prepaid expenses 12
Interest paid 14
Income tax paid 15
Other receipts from operating activities 16
Other payments for operating activities 17
Net cash flows from operating activities 20

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for additions to fixed assets 21
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and
other long-term assets 22
Payments for placement of term deposits. and
advanced funds to livestock households 23
Receipts from withdrawal of term deposits and
advanced funds 24
Collections on investments in other entities 26
Receipts of interests and dividends 27
Net cash flows from investing activities 30

Form B 03 — DN/HN

(Issued wunder Cirenlar No. 202:2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024
VND

138,208,828,263

180.886,217,046
3.430,866,209

106,030,447
(198,013,183,510)
1.732,481.,808

2023
VND

327,303,922,477

175,599,324.268
2,130,139,130

403,325
(239,133,935,829)

126,351,240,263

265,899,853,371

8.206,682,156
(49,550,236.133)

143.190,798,850

(33,.273,381,650)
(1.937,125,386)

68.407,160,998

(12,399,878,389) (10,643.292.041)
215,798,606,747 288,453,215,292
(577,078.077) -

(19.648.192,531) (64,871,125,625)
- 3,300,000

(40.993,864,222)

(27.847,536,691)

154,579,471,917

195,737,852,976

(1,076.018,999.646)
7.510,976,553

(4.479,400,000,000)
3,623.063,539,600

23,334,764.000
229.570,622,349

(388,846,099,123)
3,593,995,046

(3.423,910,239,600)
3,280,932,064,438

215,804.258,930

(1,671,939,097,144)

(312,426,020,309)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Indirect method — continued)

Form B 03 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code VND VND
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from equity issued 3l 722.407.000,000 899.515,232.000
Proceeds from borrowings 129,000,000,000
Payments to settle loan principals 33 (30.,000,000.000) -
Payments of dividends 36 (216.980,038,200) (192,950,510,700)
Net cash flows from financing activities 40 604,426.,961,800 706,564,721,300
Net cash flows during the year
(50 =20 + 30 + 40) 50 (912,932,663,427) 589,876,553,967
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 60 1,333,640,975.908 743,764,825.266
the year
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash
and cash equivalents ad ) kgran)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 70 420,708,312,481 1,333,640,975.908

the year (70 = 50 + 60 + 61) (Note 4)

20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by;
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Duc Nam
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



(a)

(b)

(¢)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 09 - DN/HN
(Tssued under Circular No, 2022014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation™ or “VLC”), whose
predecessor was Vietnam Livestock Corporation affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural
Development, was established under Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the
Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring of entities affiliated to
the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural Development. The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam
Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14 December
2012 of the Prime Minister and operates under Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443
initially issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June 2010 and its 12
amendment dated 16 November 2023.

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended 31 December 2024
comprise the Corporation and its subsidiaries and the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’ interest in
associates.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are:

- Raising cattle and produce cattle breeds;

- Raising pigs and produce pig breeds;

- Processing milk and dairy products;

- Processing and preservation of meats and meat products;

- Trading real estates, land use rights of owners, users and lessees; and

- Warehousing and goods storage.

Normal operating cycle

The normal operating cycle of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is generally within 12 months.

A =30
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(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(a)
(@)

(i)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Vietnamese
Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements, except for the consolidated statement of cash flows, are
prepared on the accrual basis using the historical cost concept. The consolidated statement of cash
flows is prepared using the indirect method.

Annual accounting period

The annual accounting period of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is from 1 January to 31
December.

Accounting and presentation currency

The Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’ accounting currency is Vietnam Dong (*VND”), which is also
the currency used for financial statement presentation purpose. All amounts have been presented in
VIND, unless otherwise noted.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Corporation and its
subsidiaries in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Corporation. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets at date of acquisition.

Changes in the Corporation’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as transactions with owners. The difference between the change in the Corporation’s
share of net assets of the subsidiary and any consideration paid or received is recorded directly in
retained profits under equity.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministrv of Finance)

(iii) Associates

(iv)

(b)

(¢)

Associates are those entities in which the Corporation has significant influence, but not control, over
the financial and operating policies. Associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are
initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition. the
consolidated financial statements include the Corporation’s share of the profit or loss of the equity
accounted associates, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Corporation,
from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
The carrying amount of investments in equity accounted investees is also adjusted for the alterations
in the investor's proportionate interest in the investees arising from changes in the investee's equity
that have not been included in the income statement (such as revaluation of fixed assets, or foreign
exchange translation differences, etc.).

When the Corporation’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted associate, the
carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Corporation has an obligation
or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group transactions, balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains and
losses arising from transactions with equity accounted associates are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Corporation’s interest in the associate.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than VND during the year have been translated into VND at rates
approximating actual rates of exchange ruling at the transaction dates.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than VND are translated into VND
at the account transfer buying rate and account transfer selling rate at the end of the accounting period
quoted by the commercial bank where the Corporation and its subsidiaries most frequently conducts
transactions.

All foreign exchange differences are recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.
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(d)

(i)

(e)

()

(2)
(i

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Investments

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are those that the Corporation or its subsidiaries has the intention and
ability to hold until maturity. Held-to-maturity investments represent term deposits at banks. These
investments are stated at costs less allowance for doubtful debts.

Equity investments in other entities

Equity investments in other entities are initially recognised at cost which include purchase price plus
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are
stated at cost less allowance for diminution in value.

An allowance is made for diminution in investment value if the investee has suffered a loss which
may cause the Corporation to lose its invested capital, unless there is evidence that the value of the
investment has not been diminished. The allowance is reversed if the investee subsequently made a
profit that offsets the previous loss for which the allowance had been made. An allowance is reversed
only to the extent that the investment’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined if no allowance had been recognised.

Accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis and includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost in the case of finished goods and work in progress includes raw materials, direct
labour and attributable manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
of inventory items, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to sell.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries apply the perpetual method of accounting for inventories.

Tangible fixed assets

Cost

Livestock

Livestock are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of livestock comprises all
actual costs and any directly attributable costs incurred in forming and raising livestock until bringing
the livestock to its productive condition for its intended use (i.e. when the livestock reach the age of
16 months).
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
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Form B 09 — DN/HN

(Issued under Circular No. 2022004/ TT-B1C
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Other tangible fixed assets

Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of a
tangible fixed asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties, non-refundable purchase
taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after other tangible fixed assets have been put into operation, such as repair,
maintenance and overhaul cost, is charged to the consolidated statement of income in the year in
which the cost is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has
resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of other
tangible fixed assets beyond their originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of other tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of tangible fixed
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

* buildings and structures 5 —50 years
® plant and equipment 4 —30 years
= motor vehicles 5— 10 years
= office equipment 3 - 8 years
®  livestock 4 — 7 years
= others 3 — 8 years

Intangible fixed assets

Advantages of land lease rights, trademarks and material zones

Advantages of land lease rights, trademarks and material zones are intangible fixed assets obtained

by the Corporation upon acquisition of subsidiaries and are initially recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date,

Advantages of land lease rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining period of
the land lease contracts. Advantages of trademarks are amortised on a straight-line basis over 20
years. Advantages of material zones are amortised on a straight-line basis over 18 years.

Computer software and management software

Cost of acquiring new computer software and management software, which is not an integral part of
the related hardware, is capitalised and treated as an intangible asset. Computer sofiware and
management software cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over 2 to 5 years.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the costs of tangible fixed assets which have not been fully
completed or installed. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress during the period of
construction and installation.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No, 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Long-term prepaid expenses

Tools and instruments

Tools and instruments include assets held for use by the Corporation and its subsidiaries in the normal
course of business whose costs of individual items are less than VND30 million and therefore not
qualified for recognition as fixed assets under prevailing regulations. Cost of tools and instruments
are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging from over 2 to 3 years.

Other long-term prepaid expenses

Other long-term prepaid expenses comprise expenses for periodic renovation, repair, billboards rental
which are recognised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging from 18
months to 36 months.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Cost of goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the
Corporation’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess is negative (gain from bargain purchase), it is recognised
in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary is amortised on a straight-line basis over 10 years.
Carrying value of goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary is written down to recoverable
amount as management determines that it is not fully recoverable.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

Provision

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation and its subsidiaries have a
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 2022201 4/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Severance allowance

Under the Vietnamese Labour Code, when an employee who has worked for 12 months or more (“the
eligible employees™) voluntarily terminates his/her labour contract, the employer is required to pay
the eligible employee severance allowance calculated based on years of service and employee’s
compensation at termination. Provision for severance allowance has been provided based on
employees” years of service and their average salary for the six-month period prior to the end of the
accounting period. For the purpose of determining the number of years of service by an employee,
the period for which the employee participated in and contributed to unemployment insurance in
accordance with prevailing laws and regulations and the period for which severance allowance has
been paid by the Corporation and its subsidiaries are excluded.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are stated at issue price less any costs directly attributable to the issue of shares, net
of tax effects. These costs are recognised as a deduction from share premium.

Taxation

Income tax on the consolidated profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year. using tax rates enacted at
the end of the annual accounting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the annual accounting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
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Form B 09 - DN/HN
(Tysued under Circular No. 2022014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Revenue and other income

Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is
recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or the
possible return of goods. Revenue on sales of goods is recognised at the net amount after deducting
sales discounts,

Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in proportion
to the stage of completion of the transaction. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to
surveys of work performed. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding
recovery of the consideration due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis with reference to the principal outstanding
and the applicable interest rate,

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established. Share dividends
are not recognised as income. Dividends received which are atiributable to the period before
investment acquisition date are deducted from the carrying amount of the investment.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the
consolidated statement of income as an integral part of the total lease expense. over the term of the
lease,

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred, except where
the borrowing costs relate to borrowings in respect of the construction of qualifying assets, in which
case the borrowing costs incurred during the period of construction are capitalized as part of the cost
of the assets concerned.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
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Form B 09 - DN/HN

(Issued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Earnings per share

The Corporation presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the ordinary shareholders (after deducting any
amounts appropriated to bonus and welfare fund for the accounting period) of the Corporation by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had no dilutive potential ordinary shares. As a result.
requirement for presentation of diluted EPS is not applicable.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Corporation and its subsidiaries that is engaged
cither in providing related products or services (business segment), or in providing products or
services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks
and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The Board of General Directors is of the
opinion that the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’ principal activities are raising dairy cows,
production and trading of products related to dairy cows. Therefore, the Corporation and its
subsidiaries do not present a report by business segments.

Geographical segment of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is determined based on the country
where revenue is generated. The Board of General Directors is of the opinion that the Corporation
and its subsidiaries operate in one geographical area which is Vietnam.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Corporation and its subsidiaries if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly. to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial and operating decisions, or where the Corporation and its subsidiaries and the
other party are subject to common control or significant influence. Related parties may be individuals
or corporate entities and include close family members of any individual considered to be a related
party.

Related companies refer to the parent company of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and associates.

Comparative information

Comparative information in these consolidated financial statements is presented as corresponding
figures. Under this method, comparative information for the prior year is included as an integral part
of the current year financial statements and is intended to be read only in relation to the amounts and
other disclosures relating to the current year. Accordingly, the comparative information included in
these consolidated financial statements is not intended to present the Corporation’s and its
subsidiaries’ consolidated financial position, results of operation or cash flows for the prior year.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

4. Cash and cash equivalents

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Cash on hand 35,130,285 57,918,453
Cash in banks

80,673,182,196  165.213,167.780
Cash equivalents (*) 340,000,000,000 1,168,369,889,675

420,708,312.481  1,333,640,975,908

(*)  Asat 31 December 2024, cash equivalents represent the deposits in VND at commercial banks with
original terms not exceeding 3 months.
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6.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Steck Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circultar No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

The voting rights percentage of the Corporation at Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is less than 20%.
However, the Corporation’s Board of Management assesses that the Corporation has significant
influences on Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC because a member of the Corporation’s Board of
Management is Member of the Board of Management of Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC. Therefore,
the investment in Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is presented in Investments in associates.

The Corporation and its subsidiaries have not determined fair values of these investments for
disclosure in the consolidated financial statements because information about their market prices is
not available or their trading volume in the market is low and there is currently no guidance on
determination of fair value using valuation techniques under the Vietnamese Accounting Standards
or the Vietnamese Accounting System for enterprises. The fair values of these investments may
differ from their carrying amounts.

Movements in investments in associates during the period were as follows:

Opening balance

Share of profit/(loss) in associates
Dividends received from associates

Closing balance

Accounts receivable from customers

Parent company

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company

Other parties

TNS Vietnam Development Joint Stock Company
Aeon Vietnam Company Limited

Other customers

2024
VND

173,121,453,660
1,082.477.361
(1.800,000,000)

2023
VND

186.491,781.,862
(13.370,328,202)

172,403.931.021

173,121,453.,660

31/12/2024
VND

76,288,728.144

1,731,465.441

134,937.680.679

1/1/2024
VND

35,267,030,828

1,269,707.441
1,579,868,980
171,310,251,056

212,957.874,264

209.426,858,305

The trade related amounts due from the parent company were unsecured, interest free and are due in
40 - 47 days from invoice date.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Cireular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Prepayments to suppliers

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

Maeda Vietnam Co., Ltd (¥) 10,333,826,230 122,195,632,115
Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and Trade

Corporation (*) 10,929.614.705 25.867,523,065
Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company (*) 11,163,675,432 20,949.748,627
Moc Chau Construction and Investment Joint Stock

Company 5,044,409.402 2,956.475,550
DMC - VTS Joint Venture Co., Ltd 3.,721,075,000 3,721,075,000
SMOSA Vietnam Technology Joint Stock Company (*) - 13,706,216,084
Tetrapak Vietnam Joint Stock Company - 1,077,333,450
Other prepayments to suppliers 13,886,217.947 8,653,130,321

55,078,818,716 199,127,134,212

These advances were made in relation to the investment project for farm renovation, conversion from
raising pigs to raising beef cattle, construction of a slaughter, processing, storage, and distribution
facility in Tam Dao District, Vinh Phuc Province (“Tam Dao Project™).

Other receivables

Other short-term receivables:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

Related party

Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC 12.337.000 12.337.000
Other parties

Interests from deposits 88,286,247.126 126,487,849.629
Advance of fund to livestock farm households - 24,542,700,000
Dividends receivable 528.800,000 528.800,000
Other receivables 9.361,751,419 9,533,595,253

98,189.135,545  161,105.281.882

The non-trade related amounts due from the related company were unsecured, interest free and are
receivable upon demand.

Other long-term receivables:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Deposits 635,015,165 309,215,750
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Inventories

Raw materials
Tools and supplies
Work in progress
Finished goods
Merchandise
inventories

Form B 09 — DN/HN

{Tssued under Circular No, 202/:20]4TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

31/12/2024
Cost Allowance
VND VND
131,224,587.,329 (667.108,103)
3,420,121,847 (75,258,432)
86,481.801,331 -
41,763,251,257 (4,551,956,922)

1,903,317,170

1/1/2024

Cost
VND

147,277,620,727
2,684.341.574
33.280.329.333
29,967.489.257

503,061,910

Allowance
VND

(1,754,923.165)
(293,843,525)

(1.504.168.016)

264,793,078,934

(5.294,323.457)

213,712,842.801

(3.552.934.706)
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

13. Long-term work in progress

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Long-term work in progress represents the carrying amount of dairy cows of less than 16 months of
age which will be transferred to tangible fixed assets under livestock when the cows are at the full
age of 16 months; i.e., when the cows are available for milking.

Movements in long-term work in progress during the period were as follows:

Opening balance

Additions

Transfer to tangible fixed asset
Other decreases

Closing balance

14. Construction in progress

Opening balance

Additions during the year

Transfer to tangible fixed asset

Transfer to intangible fixed asset

Transfer to long-term prepaid expense
Reclassification from long-term prepaid expenses

Closing balance

Major constructions in progress were as follows:

High-tech dairy cow eco-tourism farm with 4,000 cows

Tam Dao Project

Hung Yen Dairy Factory Project
Upgrading of Breeds Center No. 2
VILICO Tower Construction Project
Others

2024
VND

11,324,330,731
27.879,930,717
(13,387,755,416)

(5.245,085,627)

2023
VND

11,391,545,403
22,516,334,588
(16,369.733.,493)

(6,213,815,767)

20,571,420,405 11,324,330.731
2024 2023
VND VYND

228,445,553,623
1,193,122,825,412
(558,565,198,098)
(516,782,000)
(1,530,000,000)
3,440,517,256

95,736,189,738
310,709,841,959
(177.625.401.731)

(375,076.343)

864,396,916,193

228,445,553.623

31/12/2024
VND

143,242,557.097
629,390,173,226
63,428,745.942

2,664,654.545
25,670,785.383

1/1/2024
VND

100,212,018.073
85,715.082,910
32.862,278.915
4.051,466,587
2,664,654,545
2.940,052,593

864,396,916,193

228,445,553,623
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

15. Prepaid expenses

(a) Short-term prepaid expenses

Tools and instruments
Advertising expenses
Other short-term prepaid expenses

(b) Long-term prepaid expenses

Opening balance
Additions
Amortisation for the year

Closing balance

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Cirenlar No. 2022014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

16. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

(a) Recognised deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities:

Origination from allowance for investments in

subsidiaries and associates

Origination from revaluated assets

Total deferred tax liabilities

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VYND
2,247,583 322 786.686.814
326,394,115 1,620.458.470
7.547,428,775 5,886,924.644
10,121,406,212 8,294.069,928
Tools and Other long-term
instruments prepaid expenses Total
VND VND
15,456.144,286 3.358,219.124 18,814.,363,410
4.891.,696,784 19.664.917,681 24,556.614,465
(9.846,110,078) (7,578,479.538)  (17,424,589,616)
10,501,730,992 15,444,657.267 25.946.388,259
Tax 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
rate VND VND
20% 9,404,228,343 9,986,766,098

20% 96,090.528.400

109,600,651,301

105,494,756,743

119.587,417,399




(b)

17.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Tssued under Circular No. 2022014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 20114 of the Ministry of Finance)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Temporary Temporary
difference Tax value difference Tax value
VND VYND VND VYND
Deductible temporary
differences 4,723,017,623 944,603,525 1,737,856,425 347,571,285
Tax losses 24.898.661,685 4.979,732.337  16,423.915,820 3,284.783,164

29,621.679,308 5924335862  18,161,772,245 3,632,354,449

The tax losses expire in the following years:

Year of expiry Status of tax review Tax losses available
VND

2027 Outstanding 15,378,670.700

2028 Outstanding 1,036,245,120

2029 Outstanding 8.483,745,865

24.898.,661,685

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the Corporation and its subsidiaries can utilise
the benefits therefrom.

Goodwill
Goodwill
VND
Cost
Opening and closing balance 460,923,718,049
Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance 322.646,602,635
Amortisation for the year 46.,092,371,805
Closing balance 368.738,974,440
Net book value
Opening balance 138,277.115,414
Closing balance 02.184.743.,609
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18.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Accounts payable to suppliers — short-term

The parent company
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company

Other related companies

Vietnam Peter Hand Animal Development

Company Limited

Vietnam Dairy Cow One-Member Company Limited
Vietnam Peter Hand Animal Development

Company Limited

Thong Nhat Thanh Hoa Dairy Cow Company Limited

Other parties

Maeda Vietnam Company Limited

Livestock farm households

Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and
Trade Corporation

Number 52 Hanoi Housing Investment and
Development Joint Stock Company

Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company
Vietnam SMOSA Technology Joint Stock Company
Other parties

Form B (09 — DN/HN

fIssued under Circular No, 202/20] #/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Cost and amount within
payment capacity

31/12/2024
VND

1,798,622,554

8,457,252,082
1,913,700,000
664,819,676
64,580,081.893
49,635,070,519
59.463,066.884
28.651,123.677

27.983,983.281
138.477,474.876

1/1/2024
VND

4,249,629,635

857,500,000

1,817,241,812

41,055,768,912

22,922,737.,736

82,543,629.378

381.625,195,442

153,446,507.473

The amounts due to the related parties were unsecured, interest free and are payable within 20 to 30

days from invoice date.
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(a)

£

(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN
Tssued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Taxes and others receivable from/payable to State Treasury

Taxes and others receivable from State Treasury

1/1/2024 Incurred Paid/offset 31/12/2024
YND VND VND VIND

Value added tax 25,866,803,871 6,341,151,247 (16,773,290,733) 15,434,664.385
Corporate income tax (*) 14,718.888,075  6,944,256.,577 (13,538,273,873)  §,124.870,779
Personal income tax 251,650 - - 251,650
Land and housing taxes and
land rental 1,252,679.475 = (1,194,842.831) 57.836.644

41,838.623.071 13,285,407.824 (31.506,407.437) 23,617.623,458

During the year, the Corporation temporarily paid corporate income tax related to the advances of

JVL for the transfer of the Tam Dao Project.

Taxes and others payable to State Treasury

1/1/2024
VND

Incurred
VND

Value added tax 2,183,829.839
Corporate income tax -

128,446,125.077
35,251,255,463

Personal income tax 360,270,795 12,741.354.947
Natural resource taxes 20.274,000 282,213,862
Land and housing

taxes and land rental 656,779,008 16,994,572,445

Others 1,910.401.654

Paid/offset
VND

(130.600,768.918)
(26.242,209,827)
(12,497,265,608)

(285.714,662)

(17,651,351,453)
(1,917.808,113)

31/12/2024
VND

29,185,998
9.009,045,636
604,360,134
16,773.200

1,683,541

3,221,153,642  195,635,013,448

(189,195,118,581)

9.661.048.509

The Corporation and its subsidiaries’ tax obligations are subject to review by tax authorities. As the
application of tax laws and regulations is susceptible to varying interpretations, the amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements may change later upon final determination by the tax

authorities.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

20. Accrued expenses — short-term

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Support, advertising and promotion expenses (i) 51,185.676.782 68.869,657,498

Payment for milk purchases from livestock households
Expenses for advertising on mass media

Machinery maintenance expenses

Interest expenses

Others

(i)  Expenses for sales promotion programs represent the amounts paid to customers under sales

3,303,111,497
404,671,001
1,688,350,678
1,155,403,733
40,826,080.824

2,763,274.870
4,056,263,697
2,671,590,375

8.601,500.211

98,563,294,515

86.962.286.651

promotion programs applied by the Corporation and its subsidiaries.

21. Other payables

(a) Other payables — short-term

31/12/2024

1/1/2024
VND VND
Livestock Support Fund 850,358,888 5,384.973,619
Trade union fees 288.553.836 286,839,162
Payables and advances to employees 257,538,055 917.800,570
Dividend payables 223,406,130 168.419,730
Short-term deposits and collaterals received 187.000.000 -
Others 4,546.103.,966 15,761,262,902

6,352.960,875 22,519,295,983
B\
&
(b) Other payables — long-term
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Study promotion fund and other funds 400,327.552 790,778.252
Long-term deposits and collaterals received 322.600,000 272,600,000
722,927,552 1,063,378.252
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23.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Issued under Cireular No, 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Short-term borrowings

1/1/2024 Movement during the year 31/12/2024
Carrying
amount and Carrying
Amount amount and
within Amount within
repayment repayment
capacity Additions Decrease capacity
VND VND VND VND
Short-term borrowings - 129.000,000,000 (30.000,000,000)  99,000,000.000

Terms and conditions of outstanding short-term borrowings were as follows:

Lender s Annual 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
y Interest VND VND
Joint Stock Commercial Bank for
Foreign Trade of Vietnam — Ho Chi
Minh City Branch VND 2.6%  99.000,000,000 -

This loan has a term of 6 months and is unsecured.

Bonus and welfare fund

This fund is established by appropriating from profit after tax as approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. This fund is used to pay bonus and welfare to the Corporation’s and its subsidiaries’
employees in accordance with their bonus and welfare policies. Movements of bonus and welfare
fund during the year were as follows:

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 91,879.317.701 74,402,567,726
Appropriation 21,992,077.228 45,320,986,666
Other increases - 3,300,000
Utilisation (40,993,864,222) (27.847,536.691)
Closing balance 72,877,530,707 91,879.317,701
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25.

26.

27T

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)
Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issuwed under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Share capital

The Corporation’s authorised and issued share capital are:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Number of Number of
shares VND shares VYND

Authorised share
capital 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124.916,110,000
Issued share capital

Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000
Shares in circulation

Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2.124916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124.916,110,000

The parent company of the Corporation is Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company, a company
established in Vietnam.

All ordinary shares have a par value of VND10,000. Each share is entitled to one vote at meetings of
the Corporation. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. All
ordinary shares are ranked equally with regard to the Corporation’s residual assets.

Dividends

The Corporation’s General Meeting of Sharcholders on 23 April 2024 approved the distribution of
dividends of 2023 amounting to VND127,495 million (equivalent to VND600 per share) (2023:
VND103.408 million (equivalent to VND600 per share)).

Investment and development fund

Investment and development fund was appropriated from profit after tax in accordance with the
resolution of General Meeting of Shareholders. This fund was established for the purpose of future
business expansion

In 2024, the General Meeting of Shareholders approved not to appropriate the Investment and
Development fund from profit after tax of 2023. Accordingly, the Board of Management and the
Board of General Directors of the Corporation reversed the provisional allocation of the Investment
and Development fund made in 2023.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

28. Off balance sheet items

(a) Leases

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were:

Within one year
Within two to five years
More than five years

(b) Foreign currencies

31/12/2024
Original VND
currency equivalent
UsD -
EUR -

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

30,025,791,865
100,317.433,093
930,485,444,725

17,800,546,975
60,186,462,881
494,130,441,631

1,060,828.,669.683 572,117,451,487

1/1/2024
Original
currency VND equivalent
64 1,545,213
101 2,673,933

4,219,146

(¢) Capital expenditure commitments

The Corporation had the following commitments under foreign exchange contracts to purchase USD
at 31 December 2024, which were recorded as an off balance sheet item:

Approved but not contracted
Approved and contracted

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

2,557,850.468,848
1,449,594,557,133

2,544,512,832.,403
1,306,731,344,484

4,007,445,025,981  3.851,244,176,887
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

29. Revenue from sales of goods

Form B 09 — DN/HN

(lssued under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Total revenue represents the gross value of goods sold exclusive of value added tax.

Net revenue comprised:

Total revenue

Sales of finished goods
Sales of goods

Sales of services
Others

Less revenue deductions

Sales returns
Sales discounts

Net revenue

30. Cost of sales

Total cost of sales:

Finished goods sold
Merchandise goods sold
Services provided

Others

Allowance for inventories

2024
VND

2.877,702,899,920
78,016,119.412
3,003,878,381
1.164.114,168

2023
VYND

3,068.982.891.091
80,941,715,003
3,172,599.938
1,038,209,561

2,959,887.011.881

3,154,135,415,593

199,737,940
2,354,229.599

112,975,903
2.017,348.290

2,553,967.539

2,130,324,193

2,957,333,044.,342

3.152,005,091.400

2024
VND

2,107.860,361.549
635,146,465.047
3,696,021,831
8,628.972,954
2,059,973,028

2023
VYND

2,120,823,056.665
71,490,921,263
2,206,840.895
0,438,043,942
1,731,046.077

2,187.391.794.409

2,205,689,908.842

43

i 2 L]




31.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Financial income

Interest income from deposits and loans

Gains from disposal of other investment

Interest from credit sales and early payment discounts
Dividend income

Realised foreign exchange gains

Unrealised foreign exchange gains

32. Selling expenses

Labour costs and staff costs

Raw materials costs

Depreciation and amortisation

Support, advertising and sample products expenses
Outside services

Office tools and supplies

Other expenses in cash

33. General and administration expenses

Labour costs and staff costs
Raw materials costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of goodwill
Taxes, fees and charges
Outside services

Other cash expenses

Form B 09 - DN/HN
(Issued under Cireular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC

2024
VND

189,569,019,846
15,867,664,000
4.409,659,958

186,981,496
5,521,500

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2023
VND

259.,502,821,127

5.812.874,004
7.834.000
1,012,246,440

210,038,846,800

266,335.775,571

2024
VND

48,205.513,850
163,504,334
1,167,848.671
569.677.944,286
34,098,591,109
6,413.608.165
20,726,909,593

2023
VND

46,109.451,001
222,107,273
1,103,682,148
620,243,359,149
37,588,237,437
5,423,520,449
14.990,098.677

680,453,920,008

725,680,456,134

2024
VYND

47,456,016.091
1,786,934.838
8,737,342.828
46,092,371,805
4,160,263.859
27,853,650,721
19,005,886.019

2023
VND

42.872,355.560
1.529,987.494
8.661.024,248
46,092.371.805
2.,988,385.865
22.962,266,613
18.344,821,157

155,092,466,161

143.451,212,742
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN/HN

{Issued under Circular No, 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 20114 of the Ministry of Finance)

34. Other income

Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets
Penalties and compensation received
Others

35. Other expenses

Net book value of fixed assets disposed
Depreciation expense of fixed assets
Vaccination for cows at households
Others

36. Production and business costs by element

Raw materials costs

Support and advertising expenses
Labour costs and staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of goodwill
Outside services

Other cash expenses

2024
VND

7.510,976,553
30,797,233
8.801.837,230

2023
VND

3,432,233.455
115,290,903
13.920,546,226

16.343.611,016 17.468,070,584
2024 2023
VND VND
16,199,754,250 10,438,624.551

169,871,792

5,317,187.443

342,795,660
2.607,466.490
5,972,230,879

21,686,813.485

19,361,117,580

2024
VND

1,931,814,601.212

566,545,547.023
180,215,848.928
134,623,973.449
46,092,371,805
142,783,538.100
82,981.616.,945

2023
VND

1,943,257.661,282

616.405,087.689
165,787.173,421
129,164,156,803
46,092.371,805
122,728.578,381
66,136.045,530
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e, 78

(a) Recognised in the consolidated statement of income

(b)

(c)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Income tax

Current tax expense
Current year
Under provision in prior years

Deferred tax benefit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Accounting profit before tax

Tax at the Corporation’s tax rate
Tax exempt income

Non-taxable income
Non-deductible expenses
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Tax losses utilised

Under provision in prior years

Applicable tax rates

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Circular No, 202200 4/TT-BTC

2024
VND

35,059,600,574
191,654,890

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2023
VND

51,858,741.,460

35,251,255.464

51,858.741.460

(14.092,660,655)

(13,662,933,640)

21,158,594,809

38,195,807,820

2024
VND

138,208,828.263

2023
VND

327,303,922,477

27,641.765,653
(18,485.750,402)

9,518,943,255
2,291.981,413

191,654,890

65,460,784,495
(36,750,877,088)
(1,566,800)
13,646,203,974
347,571,285
(4,506,308,046)

21,158.594,809

38.195.807.,820

Under the terms of its Investment Registration Certificate and the current Law on Corporate Income
Tax, the Corporation and its subsidiaries have an obligation to pay the government income tax at the

rate of 20% of taxable profits.
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38.
(a)

*)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
(Issued under Civcular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

In addition, in accordance with Decree No. 12/2015/ND-CP dated 12 February 2015 of the
Government on elaboration of the law on amendments to tax laws and amendments to some articles
of decrees on taxations, the Corporation’s subsidiary is exempted from income tax for incomes from
farming, breeding, aquaculture, agro-processing, fish processing in extremely disadvantaged areas.
Income from agro-processing. fish processing eligible for tax incentives prescribed in this Decree
must satisfy all of the conditions below:

- The proportion of value of raw materials (farm produce, aquaculture products) to production cost
is at least 30%; and

- Products derived from agro-processing, fish processing are not subject to special excise tax, unless
otherwise prescribed by the Prime Minister according to proposals of the Ministry of Finance.

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 was based on the
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders after deducting the amounts appropriated to Bonus and
welfare fund and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

2024 2023
Net profit for the year (VND) 54,135,679,570 156.602,643,770
Appropriation to Bonus and welfare fund (VND) (¥) (13,041.301,796) 30,082.194.673)
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (VND) 41,094,377,774 126,520,449.097
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year
(number of shares) 212,491,611 183,564,898
Basic earnings per share (VND/share) 193 689

At 31 December 2024, the Corporation made appropriation to the bonus and welfare fund for the year
ended 31 December 2024 based on the consolidated profits attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Corporation for the year 2023,

At 31 December 2024, the Corporation had no diluted potential ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2024 2023
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 212,491,611 172,346,173
Effect of treasury shares newly issued during the year - 11,218,725
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year 212,491,611 183.564.898
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39.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Form B (09 — DN/HN

(Issued under Circular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finarice)

Significant transactions with related parties

In addition to related party balances disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Corporation and its subsidiaries had the following significant transactions with related parties

during the year:

The parent company

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company
Sales of goods and services

Purchase of goods and services

Purchase of fixed assets

Dividends

Sales of fixed assets

Advance payment for office rent

Other related companies
Vietnam Dairy Cow One-member Company Limited
Purchase of goods and services

Thong Nhat Thanh Hoa Dairy Cow Company Limited
Purchase of goods

Hanoi Peter Hand Animal Developing Co., Ltd.
Purchase of goods
Income from profit sharing

Key management personnel compensation

Members of Board of Directors

Total remuneration

Mr. Nguyen Hong Bach — Member

Mr. Le Thanh Liem — Member

Mrt, Do Hoang Phuc — Member

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — Member (from 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — Member (until 23/4/2023)
Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — Member (until 27/4/2023)

Transaction value

2024
VND

572,830,389,827
30.023,208.648
4,295,170,594
107,366,205,000
3,920,351,174
470,869,092

78.848,054,533

3.580,765,415

2023
VND

425,263,034,815
30,445,101,138

89,788.080,000

81,553,115,528

14,450,300,000 14,045,105,000
1,800,000,000 -
2024 2023
VND Million  VND Million
384 384
06 96
96 96
96 96
66 E
30 64
= 32
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
{Tssued under Cireular No. 202/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
VND Million  VND Million

Board of Management

Total remuneration 1,236 1,120
Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — General Director 650 129
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — General Director

(from 1/5/2023 to 19/10/2023) - 281
M. Trinh Quoc Dung — General Director (until 1/5/2023) - 242
Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam — Deputy General Director

(from 1/3/2024) 271 -
Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram— Deputy General Director

(from 1/10/2024) 265 -
Mr. Tran Chi Son — Deputy General Director (until 29/2/2024) 50 346
Mr. Nguyen Dang Khoa — Deputy General Director

(until 25/4/2023) - 122
Supervisory Board

Total remuneration 240 240
Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran — Head of Supervisory Board

(from 23/4/2024) 66 -
Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu — Head of Supervisory Board

(until 23/4/2024) 30 96
Mr, Trinh Cong Son — Member 72 72
Mr. Truong Anh Vu — Member 72 72

40. Non-cash investing activities

2024 2023

VND VND
Offsetting advance of fund to livestock households and
payables for purchase of milk 23,754.400,000 37.360,235,562
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41.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN/HN
fIssued under Circular No. 2022014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Comparative information

Comparative information as at 1 January 2024 was derived from the balances and amounts reported
in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by:
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Duc Nam :
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation - Joint Stock Company
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Establishing Documents

Board of Directors

Board of Management

Supervisory Board

Registered Office

Auditor

Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the Minister
of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring
of entities affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural
Development.

The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam Livestock Corporation
— Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14
December 2012 of the Prime Minister.

Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443 was initially
issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June
2010. The Enterprise Registration Certificate has been amended
several times, the most recent of which is dated 16 November 2023
(the 12" amendment).
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Statement of the Board of Management

The Board of Management of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the
Corporation™) presents this statement and the accompanying separate financial statements of the
Corporation for the year ended 31 December 2024,

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of the separate financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards,
the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable
to financial reporting. In the opinion of the Corporation’s Board of Management:

(a)  the separate financial statements set out on pages 5 to 34 give a true and fair view of the
unconsolidated financial position of the Corporation as at 31 December 2024, and of its
unconsolidated results of operations and its unconsolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for
Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements applicable to financial reporting; and

(b)  atthe date of this statement, there is no reason to believe that the Corporation will not be able to
pay its debts as and when they fall due,

The Board of Management has, on the date of this statement, authorised the accompanying separate
financial statements for issue.

-4
an Quoc Khanh

General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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kPMG

KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72
E6 Pham Hung Street, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
+84 (24) 3946 1600 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation®), which comprise the separate balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024, the separate statements of income and cash flows for the year
then ended and the explanatory notes thereto which were authorised for issue by the Corporation’s
Board of Management on 20 March 2025, as set out on pages 5 to 34.

Management’s Responsibility

The Corporation’s Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and true and fair
presentation of these separate financial statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory
requirements applicable to financial reporting, and for such internal control as the Board of
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our respaonsibility is to express an opinion on these separated financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the separated financial statements are free of material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation’s Board of Management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit apinion.

KPMG Limited, a Viotnamasa ona member imited liabilly company and & member firm of the 3
KPMG global orgenization of iIndependen momber firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited,
a private English company limited by guarantae. All ights reserved
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Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the separate financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material respects,
of the unconsolidated financial position of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
as at 31 December 2024 and of its unconsolidated results cf operations and its unconsolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the
Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting.

KPMG Limited
Vletnam
Report No. 22-02-00143-25-1

Phan My Linh
F'ractlcmg Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 3065-2024-007-1 Certificate No. 3064-2024-007-1

Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2024

Form B 01 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 20002014/ TT-RTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry af Finance)

Code Note 31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VYND
ASSETS
Current assets
(100 = 110+ 120 + 130 + 140 + 150) 100 224,838,518,786 1,087,144,663.626
Cash and cash equivalents 110 4 20,181,137,661 018,962,235,939
Cash 111 10,181,137,661 92,062,235,939
Cash equivalents 112 10,000,000,000 526.900.000,000
Short-term financial investments 120 153.000,000,000 270,100,000,000
Held-to-maturity investments 123 5(a) 153.000,000,000 270.100,000,000
Accounts receivable — short-term 130 25,283,731,907 189,499,839,279
Accounts receivable from customers 131 6 2,935,187,095 2,035,948 436
Prepayments to suppliers 132 7 21,255,583.220 187.858.182,045
Other receivables 136 8 6,539,436,592 3,565,783.798
Allowance for doubtful debts 137 9 (5.446,475,000) (3.960,075,000)
Inventories 140 37,870,000 37,870,000
Inventories 141 37.870.000 37,870,000
Other current assets 150 26,335,779,218 8,544,718,408
Short-term prepaid expenses 151 94,446,469 70,451,015
Deductible value added tax 152 9,939,390,223 4.262,889,860
Taxes and others receivable from
State Treasury 153 14(a) 16,301,942.526 4.211,377,533

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Long-term assets
(200 =220 + 240 + 250 + 260)

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Intangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Long-term work in progress
Long-term work in progress
Construction in progress

Long-term financial investments
Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in associates, joint ventures
Equity investments in other entities
Allowance for diminution in the value
of long-term financial investments

Other long-term assets
Long-term prepaid expenses

TOTAL ASSETS
(270 = 100 + 200)

Code

200

220
221
222
223
224
228
229

240
241
242

250
251
252
253
254

260
261

270

Form B 01 - DN

flssued under Circudar No, 2000201 4/TT-BTC
eated 22 December 20114 of the Ministry of Finance)

Note 31/12/2024
YND

4,029,092,711,001

6,218,974,765

10 6,172,792,842
30,836,104,929
(44.683,312,087)

46,181,923

686,582,000

(640,400,077)

1,231,834,988,560
11 1.165.741,588,073
12 66,093.400,487

5(b) 2,790,844,022,182
2,623,904.636,965
238.833,528,842
22,294.812,327

(94.188.955,952)

194,725,494
194,725,494

1/1/2024
VND

2,172,193,736,583

7,293,803,865
7.165,761.278
52,163,271,431
(44,997,510,153)
128,042,587
686,582,000
(558,539,413)

121,179,086,173

121,179.086,173

2,043,505,433,408
1,872.011.636,965
238.833.528.842
29.,761,912,327

(97.101.644.726)

215,413,137
215.413,137

4,253,931,229,787

3,259,338,400,209

N A w

The accompanying notes are an integral pari of these separate financial statements



Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2024 (continued)

RESOURCES
LIABILITIES (300 = 310)

Current liabilities
Accounts payable to suppliers
Advances from customers
Taxes and others payable to
State Treasury
Payables to employees
Accrued expenses
Other payables — short-term
Provisions — short-term
Bonus and welfare fund

EQUITY (400 = 410)

Owners’ equity
Share capital
- Ordinary shares with voting rights
Share premium
Investment and development fund
Retained profits
- Retained profits brought forward
- Profit for the current year

TOTAL RESOURCES
(440 = 300 + 400)

Prepared by:

=

Hoang Manh Cuong
Chief Accoumtant

Code Note
300

310

31l 13
312

313 14(b)
314

315 15
319 16
321 17
322 18
400

410 19
411 20
41la

412

418 22
421

$2ia

421h

440

20 March 2025

Reviewed by:

Nguyen Duc Nam
Deputy General Director

Form B 01 - DN

{Issued under Circutar No, 200/201 4/ TT-BTC

31/12/2024
VND

1,256,546,587,592

1,256,546,587,592
197.666.584,947
1,469.893,000

3.310,245,495
1,134,250,815
33,191,943,752
971,018,576,706
2.461,920,000
46,293,172,877

2,997,384,642,195

2,997,384,642,195
2,124.916,110,000
2,124,916,110,000
396,702,829,230
80.559,835.691
395.205,867,274
252,573.669,152
142,632,198, 122

dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

1/1/2024
YND

277,090,989,534

277,090,989,534
27.010,706,306
1.469,893,000

3,042,292,002
1.164.592.012
270,000,000
193.224,868,189
2.232.994,560
48.675.643.465

2,982,247,410,675

2,982,247,410,675
2,124.916.110,000
2,124,916,110,000
396.702.829.230
96.318.310,288
364.310,161,157
230,363,127,084
133,947,034,073

4,253,931,229,787

3,259,338,400,209

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements

.,d.u-:\'\



Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 02 - DN
(Issued wunder Circular No. 20002013/ TT-ETC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
Code Note VND VND
Revenue from provision of services 01 24 5,137,120.,485 3,931,337,382
Cost of services rendered 11 25 3,696,021,831 2,206,840,895
Gross profit (20=01 - 11) 20 1,441,098,654 1,724,496,487
Financial income 21 26 160,331,752.572 176,528.087.646
Financial expenses 22 27 (2.912,688.774) (1,261.697,575)
General and administration expenses 26 28 19.472,611,168 18,267,559,735
Net operating profit
(30 =20 + 21 - 22 - 26) 30 145,212,928,832 161,246,721,973
Other income 31 29 1,832,011,670 1.259,231,735
Other expenses 32 30 1,297.561,891 2.224.761.844
Results of other activities
(40 = 31 - 32) 40 534,449,779 (965,530,109)
Accounting profit before tax
(50 = 30 + 40) 50 145,747,378.611 160,281,191,864
Income tax expense — current 51 32 3,115,180,489 2,696,445,896
Wet praficxiier fax 60 142,632,198,122  157,584,745,968

(60 = 50 - 51)

Prepared by:

20 March 2025

J</ TONG Cong

| CHAN WU VT N

/

Hoang Manh Cuong
Chief Accountant

)
-:B#an Quoc Khanh
General Director

Nguyen Duc Nam
Deputy General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Separate statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Indirect method)

Code

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for
Depreciation
Allowances and provisions
Profits from investing activities

Operating loss before changes in
working capital

Change in receivables
Change in payables and other liabilities
Change in prepaid expenses

Income tax paid
Other payments for operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities

01
02

03
05

08

09
11
12

15
17

20

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for additions to fixed assets
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and
other long-term assets

Payments for placement of term deposits
Receipts from withdrawal of term deposits
Payments for investments in other entities
Collections on investments in other entities
Receipts of interests and dividends

Net cash flows from investing activities

21

22
23
24
25
26
27

30

Form B 03 -DN

{Issued under Circular No. 20002014/ TT-RT'C
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
VYND VYND
145,747,378,611 160,281,191,864
2,306,258,808 1,288.,982,591
(1,197,363,334) (1,032,772,135)
(160,746,582,538) (176.080,705,739)
(13,890,308,453) (15.543,303,419)
154,035,921,486 7.968,241.871

(102,881,888,753)
(3.307,811)

48,743,608,408
270,865,556

37,260,416,469 41,439,412,416
(6.944,256,577) (1,779,490,058)
(2,382.470,588) (1,618,846,691)
27,933,689,304 38,041,075,667
(32.184,414.029) (139,804,049.,750)
414.829.966 204,545,455
(283,000,000,000) (570,100,000,000)
400,100,000,000 866,000,000,000
(751.893.,000.000) (351,900,000,000)
23,334,764,000 -
143,953,012,681 192,440,014,222
(499,274,807,382) 96,840,509,927

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Separate statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Indirect method - continued)

Code

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from equity issued or capital

Form B 03 - DN
{Issued under Circular No. 2002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
VND VYND

- 561,415,232.000
(127.439,980,200) (103,407,703.800)

contributed by owners 31
Payments of dividends 36
Net cash flows from financing activities 40

(127,439,980,200) 458,007,528,200

Net cash flows during the year 50
(50 =20 + 30 + 40)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

(598,781,098,278) 592,889,113,794

60 618,962,235,939 26,073,122,145
of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year (70 = 50 + 60) (Note 4) 70 20,181,137,661 618,962,235,939
20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by;

e

Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyén Duc Nam
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director

General Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

Form B 09 - DN
flssued wunder Circular No. 200/201 4/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying separate
financial statements.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation” or “VLC™), whose
predecessor was Vietnam Livestock Corporation affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural
Development, was established under Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the
Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to restructuring of entities affiliated to
the Ministry of Agriculture & Rural Development. The Corporation was transformed to Vietnam
Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-TTg dated 14 December
2012 of the Prime Minister and operates under Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443
initially issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June 2010 and its 12%
amendment dated 16 November 2023.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Corporation are:

- Raising cattle and produce cattle breeds;

- Raising pigs and produce pig breeds:

- Processing milk and dairy products;

- Processing and preservation of meats and meat products;

- Trading real estates, land use rights of owners, users and lessees; and

- Warehousing and goods storage.

Normal operating cycle

The normal operating cycle of the Corporation is generally within 12 months.

Corporation structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had 2 subsidiaries and 5 associates (1/1/2024: 2 subsidiaries
and 5 associates) as listed in Note 5(h).

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had 32 employees (1/1/2024: 33 employees).
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(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(a)

(b)
(i)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B (9 - DN
(Isswed under Circular No. 2002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting
Standards, the Vietnamese Accounting System for Enterprises and the relevant statutory requirements
applicable to financial reporting. The Corporation prepares and issues its consolidated financial
statements separately. For a comprehensive understanding of the Corporation’s consolidated financial
position, its consolidated results of operations and its consolidated cash flows, these separate financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The separate financial statements, except for the separate statement of cash flows, are prepared on the
accrual basis using the historical cost concept. The separate statement of cash flows is prepared using
the indirect method.

Annual accounting period

The annual accounting period of the Corporation is from 1 January to 31 December,

Accounting and presentation currency

The Corporation’s accounting currency is Vietnam Dong (“VND”), which is also the currency used
for financial statement presentation purpose. All amounts have been presented in VND, unless
otherwise noted.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Corporation in the preparation
of these separate financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash balances and call deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

Investments

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are those that the Corporation’s Board of General Directors has the
intention and ability to hold until maturity. Held-to-maturity investments represent deposits at banks.
These investments are stated at costs less allowance for doubtful debts.
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(ii)

(iii)

(d)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
flssued under Circular No. 2002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Investments in subsidiaries and associates

For the purpose of these separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities are initially recognised at cost which include purchase price plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are stated at cost less
allowance for diminution in value. An allowance is made for diminution in investment value if the
investee has suffered a loss which may cause the Corporation to lose its invested capital, unless there
is evidence that the value of the investment has not been diminished. The allowance is reversed if the
investee subsequently made a profit that offsets the previous loss for which the allowance had been
made. An allowance is reversed only to the extent that the investment’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no allowance had been recognised.

Equity investments in other entities

Investments in equity instruments of other entities are initially recognised at cost which include
purchase price plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
investments are stated at cost less allowance for diminution in value. An allowance is made for
diminution in investment values if the investee has suffered a loss which may cause the Corporation
to lose its invested capital. unless there is evidence that the value of the investment has not been
diminished. The allowance is reversed if the investee subsequently made a profit that offsets the
previous loss for which the allowance had been made. An allowance is reversed only to the extent that
the investment’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined if no allowance had been recognised.

Accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a a weighted
average basis and includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost in the case of finished goods and work in progress includes raw materials, direct labour
and attributable manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of
inventory items, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to sell.

The Corporation applies the perpetual method of accounting for inventories.
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(h)
(i)

(i)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN

{lssued under Circular No, 2002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Tangible fixed assets

Cost

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. The initial cost of a tangible
fixed asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties, non-refundable purchase taxes and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after tangible fixed assets have been put into operation, such as repair.
maintenance and overhaul cost, is charged to the separate statement of income in the year in which the
cost is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of tangible fixed
assets beyond their originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of tangible fixed
assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

*  Buildings and structures 5 — 30 years
®  Plant and equipment 5—10 years
* Transportation and transmission 5 — 10 years
*  Office equipment 3 — 8 years

Intangible fixed assets

Software

Cost of acquiring new software, which is not an integral part of the related hardware, is capitalised and
treated as an intangible asset. Software cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period from 2
to 5 years.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the costs of tangible fixed assets which have not been fully
completed. No depreciation is provided for construction in progress during the period of construction.

Long-term prepaid expenses

Tools and instruments

Tools and instruments include assets held for use by the Corporation in the normal course of business
whose costs of individual items are less than VND30 million and therefore not qualified for recognition
as fixed assets under prevailing regulations. Cost of tools and instruments are amortised on a straight-
line basis over a period ranging from 2 to 3 years.

Other long-term prepaid expenses

Other long-term prepaid expenses comprise expenses for periodic renovation, repair, billboards rental
which are recognised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging from 2 to 3
years.

14
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
{Issued under Circular No, 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

Provision

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the liability.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are stated at issue price less any costs directly attributable to the issue of shares, net
of tax effects. These costs are recognised as a deduction from share premium.

Taxation

Income tax on the unconsolidated profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the separate statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at
the end of the annual accounting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using the tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the annual accounting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN

(Issued under Circular No, 20002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 20114 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Revenue and other income

Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the statement of income in proportion to the stage of
completion of the transaction. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work
performed. No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the
consideration due.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis with reference to the principal outstanding
and the applicable interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established. Share dividends are
not recognised as income. Dividends received which are attributable to the period before investment
acquisition date are deducted from the carrying amount of the investment.

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the separate statement of income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the separate statement
of income as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Corporation if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions, or where the Corporation and the other party are subject to common control or
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities and include close family
members of any individual considered to be a related party.

Related companies refer to the parent company and the subsidiaries and associates of the Corporation
and of the parent company.

Comparative information

Comparative information in these separate financial statements is presented as corresponding figures.
Under this method, comparative information for the prior year is included as an integral part of the
current year separate financial statements and are intended to be read only in relation to the amounts
and other disclosures relating to the current year. Accordingly. the comparative information included
in these separate financial statements is not intended to present the Corporation’s unconsolidated
financial position, results of operation or cash flows for the prior year.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issned under Circular No, 2002004/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

4. Cash and cash equivalents

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
YND VND
Cash on hand = 4,488,719
Cash in banks 10,181,137.661 02,057.747.220
Cash equivalents (*) 10.000.000,000  526.900.000,000

20,181.137.661 618,962,235,939

(*)  As at 31 December 2024, cash equivalents represent the deposits in VND at commercial banks with
original terms not exceeding 3 months.

5. Investments

(a) Held-to-maturity investments

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Saigon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank 153,000,000,000 60.,000,000,000
Ho Chi Minh City Development Joint Stock
Commercial Bank = 210,100,000,000

153.000,000,000 270,100,000,000
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN

(Isswed under Circular No, 20002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

The voting rights percentage of the Corporation at Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is less than 20%.
However, the Corporation’s Board of Management assesses that the Corporation has significant
influences on Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC because a member of the Corporation’s Board of
Management is a member of the Board of Management of Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC. Therefore,
the investment in Vietnam Tea Corporation - JSC is presented in Investments in associates.

The Corporation has not determined fair values of these investments for disclosure in the separate
financial statements because information about their market prices is not available or their trading
volume in the market is low and there is currently no guidance on determination of fair value using
valuation techniques under the Vietnamese Accounting Standards and the Vietnamese Accounting
System for enterprises. The fair values of these investments may differ from their carrying amounts.

Accounts receivable from customers

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

Subsidiaries
Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited 616,616,951 177,277,680
Moc Chau Dairy Cattle Breeding Joint Stock Company 75,036,732 139,955,959
Other parties
TNS Vietnam Development Joint Stock Company 1,731.465.441 1,269,707,441
Cat Linh Construction Materials Import-Export
Joint Stock Company 239,000,000 239,000,000
Other customers 273,067,971 210,007,356

2,935,187,095 2.035,948.436

The trade related amounts due from the related parties were unsecured, interest free and are due in 30
days from invoice date.
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
Issued under Circular No. 200201 4/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Prepayments to suppliers

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND

Maeda Vietnam Co.. Ltd (¥) 10,333,826,230  122,195,632,115
Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and
Trade Corporation (*) = 25.867,523,065
Quoc Viet Investment Joint Stock Company (*) 20,949,748.627
SMOSA Vietnam Technology Joint Stock Company (*) - 13.706,216,084
DMC - VTS Joint Venture Co., Ltd 3,721,075,000 3.721,075,000
Others 7.200,681,990 1,417,987,154

21,255,583,220  187,858,182,045

These advances were made in relation to the investment project for farm renovation, conversion from
raising pigs to raising beef cattle, construction of a slaughter, processing, storage, and distribution

facility in Tam Dao District, Vinh Phuc Province (“the Tam Dao Project”).

Other receivables

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND YND
Subsidiaries
Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited 2.519,262.880 -
Other parties
Dividends and share of profit receivable 528,800,000 528,800,000
Accrued interest income from term deposits 1,696.465,754 1,185,389.863
Receivables from employees 454,248 646 623,112,310
Other receivables 1,340,659,312 1,228,481,625
6.539,436,592 3.565,783,798

The non-trade related amounts due from the related company were unsecured, interest free and are

receivable upon demand.

21



Woe=——"/

LILIAJ-1I0YS — 51G3p [NJIGNOP 0] 30UBMO[[Y

T
(000°6L0°096°E) (000°SLF 9Pt S)
(000°SLO°096°E)  000°SLY 9FP'S - (000°SLEOPF'S)  000°SLE9bH'S
(000°000°6£7) 000°000°6£C - (000°000°6£2) 000°000°6€T sieak ¢ JaAQ
= 000007981 - (000°00+°98F°1)  000°00F" 98+ sieak ¢ 13AQ)
(0oo'sLo'1ZLE)  000°SLOTITLE - (DOD'SLOTIZL'E)  000°SLO'ITL'E  sleak g18AQ

aNA aNA aNA aNA aNA ANA
JUNOWE DUBMO[]Y 180D junowe BDUEMO[[Y 1500) (sawak)
I EIDA0IIY qEI2A00IY ANPI3A()
PTOTL/1 FTOTTI/IE

(2oubulf Jo Aasiuipy oyl jo oz s2quade] ;g pap
DUHLLFI0Z/00T 0N D210 dapun panssy)
N — 60 d w104

M O

Auedwon) Yoo1§ utof
uodxq - wodu] [puaIRN
UONINOSU0D) yui i)

Auedwon yoo15

iof Suipaaig [eunuy
pue jue|] oeln) Suo(]

P11 0D

MMUIA WIOr STA - DINA

siqap pfignoq

$1GOp [MpIqnop pue peg

(panunuod) $z(z 19quiada(] [€ pIpua 1ua4 3Y) 10J SIUdWAE)S [eUEUY Aeiedds ay) 0} sajoN
Auedwo)) 203§ yuof — uonerod107) YO0)SIAIT WeEUId A

6



61L°8TANA $T0T/1/1) ¥TOT 12quiada(] | ¢ Jo

TY8TOLTLI™Y = mmu,.mmenmmm T67°6£8°9T1 SLY6STESI'S
8LTI9L'S91°L & BLL LSO VT 1 91T 11T 181 £8T'T68°6EL'S
LBOTIEE89bY 9€9°€91°0¢€T 6LL'BEOELS'E P88°SLE VT 88L°CLS CSL6E
(80L°6TF"1 mmw 1) - - . (89.°9L9°%19) (0¥6°ZSL919)
(T0S 991°L0E"1) (818°LE6SH) ?mo,cmm,@cﬂ (000°005°86¢) (000°860°€05)
il ,mom,.wmm.m 5 rO1'¥96°1SE 76¥'870°699 8PS CREEOT'L
ESI0ISLO6 T PSE101°9zZE 6SESOL0ESE 091 70L°89%°1 081°666°1L9°6¢
6T6F017958°08 9€9°€91°0€T YSETEL SOY T 9LESIVIST £9¥°€6L 806 1
ﬁmomwuf LOE'T) (818°L€6°S6) ?ww,.omm,mmﬁ (000°005°86€) (000°860°€05)
LEPILTE9TTS perI01°9ze SELE9ESLLY 9LES16°6V9" £9¥'168°11¥°SH
(NA (NA aNA aNA aNA
[B10], judwdinba UOISSTWSUE.L) judwdinbs pue S2ANJINLIS
IDPO pue uonepiodsues | el g pue sSurpjing

(@avnn o fo Lgsiapy ai) Jo p 07 42quiadag ¢z paiop

DUF-LL#10T/00Z ON 4VJn241) 4optn panssy)
Nd — 60 g w104

‘9sN SALIOE UL [|1IS 216 Y21YMm Jng (Uolj|Iw
se pajeroaidap AJ[nJ a1am OIYM UOI[[IW $69°6TANA SUIISO0 SJASSE 21am SJASSE paxyy a[qISue) ur papnjou|

aoue[eq urso))
soueeq Fuiuadg
an[eA yooq JAN

aoue[eq 3UISO[)

ssaiFoad ur sppom wire)-3uo| 03 Jajsuel |,
s[esodsi

JeaA 2y 1oy adieyn)

aoue[eq Sutuadpy

nonenadop paemunady

aoue[eq FuIso[)

sjesodsi(q
aoueeq Sutuadp
150D

s)asse paxyy d|qidue |,

(panunuod) $7(7 12qUIIA( [§ PIPUS 1BIA O} 10] SJUIWAJEYS [RIOULUL AeIedas Iy} 0] SMION
Auedwro)) }20)S jutof — uone10da0)) }I0)SIAIT WEUIDIA

01



11.

12.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN

{lssued under Circular No. 20020014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finanece)

Long-term work in progress

Long-term work in progress represents costs of construction relating to the Tam Dao project. Under
the Investment Framework Agreement (“IFA™) dated 5 September 2022 and its amendment dated 24
September 2024 between the Corporation, Sojitz Corporation (the second investor of JVL — a
subsidiary of the Corporation), Viet Nam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company (the parent company
of the Corporation), and JVL, the Corporation plans to transfer the Tam Dao Project to JVL after the
Tam Dao project construction is completed and meets the specified condition precedent for transfer.

Construction in progress

2024 2023

YND VND
Opening balance 121,179,086,173 10,271,530,741
Additions during the year 1.111.887.332.095 110.907,555,432
Transfer to long-term work in progress (1.166,973,017.781) -
Closing balance 66.,093,400.487 121,179,086,173

Major constructions in progress were as follows:
31/12/2024 1/1/2024

YND VND
The Tam Dao project - 85,652,152,713
Hung Yen Dairy Factory Project 63.428,745,942 32.862,278.915
VILICO Tower Construction Project 2.664,654,545 2.664,654,545

66,093,400,487 121,179,086,173
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13.

14.
(2)

gt

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
flssued wnder Circutar No. 200/2014/TT-RTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Accounts payable to suppliers

Cost and amount within payment

capacity
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Subsidiaries
Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited 1,359,900 1.359,900
Third parties
No. 52 Hanoi Housing Investment and Development
Joint Stock Company - 22.922.737.,736
Maeda Vietnam Company Limited 64,580,081,893 -
Thai Son Corporation 11,515,780,505 2,560,507,506
Dai Dung Metallic Manufacture Construction and Trade
Corporation 59,463,066,884 -
Quoe Viet Investment Joint Stock Company 28,651,123.677 -
Vietnam SMOSA Technology Joint Stock Company 27.,983,983.281 -
Other suppliers 5,471,188.,807 1.526,101,164

197,666,584,947 27,010,706,306

The trade related amounts due to the subsidiary were unsecured, interest free and are payable upon
demand.

Taxes and others receivable from/payable to State Treasury

Taxes and others receivable from State Treasury

1/1/2024 Incurred Paid/offset 31/12/2024
YND VND VND VND
Qutput value added tax 1,782,061,680 6,341.151.247 - 8,123,212,927
Corporate income tax (*) 1,176,384,728  6,944,256,577 - 8,120,641,305
Other taxes 1,252,931,125 - (1,194,842.831) 58.088.294

4,211,377,533 13,285,407,824 (1,194,842.831)  16,301,942,526

During the year, the Corporation temporarily paid corporate income tax related to the advances of JVL
for the transfer of the Tam Dao Project.
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(b)

15.

16.

(*)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 — DN
(Issued under Circular No. 20002014 TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Taxes and others payable to State Treasury

1/1/2024 Incurred Paid/offset 31/12/2024
VND VYND VND VND
Value added tax 2,183,829.839 67.062.876,456 (69,217.520,297) 29,185,998
Personal income tax 201,683.155 2.,729,711,857 (2,765,516,004) 165,879,008
Corporate income tax - 3.115,180.489 - 3,115,180,489
Land and housing taxes
and land rental 656,779,008 3,937,033.056 (4.593.812,064) -

3,042,292,002 76.844.801,858 (76,576,848,365) 3,310,245,495

Accrued expenses — short-term

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Accrued construction costs 32.995.943.752 -
Others 196,000,000 270,000,000
33,191,943,752 270,000,000
Other payables
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VYND VYND
Advances from JVL for the Tam Dao project (*) 964.858,573,817  177,949,005,870
Trade union fees 98,118,214 153,579,880
Short-term deposits and collaterals received 187,000,000 43,300,000
Dividend payables 223,406,130 168,419,730
Others 5.651,478.545 14,910,562,709

- e %

071,018,576,706 193,224 868,189

These are advances made by JVL to the Corporation for construction of Tam Dao Project under the
IFA dated 5 September 2022 (Note 11). The project will be transferred to JVL upon completion of all
condition precedent specified in the contract.
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17.

18.

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B (09 - DN

{Issued under Circular No. 20002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Short-term provisions

Provision for land rental is temporarily calculated using the unit price issued by the People’s
Committee of Ho Chi Minh City for the period from July 2013 to 31 December 2018 because there is
no lease contract and land rental payment notice for the land as a basis for determining obligations to
the State budget.

Bonus and welfare fund

This fund is established by appropriating from profit after tax as approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. This fund is used to pay bonus and welfare to the Corporation’s employees in accordance
with the Corporation’s bonus and welfare policies. Movements of bonus and welfare fund during the
year were as follows:

2024 2023

VND VND
Opening balance 48.675.643.465 42,415,252,858
Appropriation - 7.879,237.298
Utilisation (2.382,470,588) (1.618,846,691)
Closing balance 46,293,172.877 48.675,643,465
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20.

21.

22,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN

Issued under Circular No. 200:201 4/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Share capital

The Corporation’s authorised and issued share capital are:
31/12/2024 1/1/2024
Number of Number of
shares VND shares VND

Authorised share capital 212,491,611 2,124.916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000

Issued share capital
Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124,916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000

Issued share capital
Ordinary shares 212,491,611  2,124.916,110,000 212,491,611 2,124,916,110,000

The parent company of the Corporation is Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company, a company
established in Vietnam.

All ordinary shares have a par value of VND10,000. Each share is entitled to one vote at meetings of
the Corporation. Shareholders are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time. All
ordinary shares are ranked equally with regard to the Corporation’s residual assets,

Dividends

The Corporation’s General Meeting of Shareholders on 23 April 2024 approved the distribution of
dividends of 2023 amounting to VNDI127,495 million (equivalent to VNDG600 per share) (2023:
VND103.408 million (equivalent to VND600 per share)).

Investment and development fund

Investment and development fund was appropriated from profit after tax in accordance with the
resolution of General Meeting of Shareholders. This fund was established for the purpose of future
business expansion

In 2024, the General Meeting of Shareholders approved not to appropriate the Investment and
Development fund from profit after tax 0f 2023. Accordingly, the Board of Management and the Board
of General Directors of the Corporation reversed the provisional allocation of the Investment and
Development fund made in 2023.
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(b)

24.

25,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B (09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 2002004/ TT-BTC
dared 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

Off balance sheet items

Leases

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Within one year 10,025,412,985 2,889.277.638
Within two to five years 34.096,078.378 9,221.817.941
More than five years 262.,395.603.210 32,119,055,327

306,517,094,573 44,230,150,906

Capital expenditure commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Corporation had the following outstanding capital commitments
approved but not provided for in the balance sheet:

31/12/2024 1/1/2024
VND VND
Approved but not contracted 2,557.850,468.848 2,544,512,832,403
Approved and contracted 1,449.594,557.133  1,306,731.344,484

4.007,445,025,981  3,851,244,176,887

Revenue from provision of services

2024 2023

VND VND
Provision of services 5,137,120.485 3.931,337,382
Cost of sales

2024 2023

VND VND
Cost of services provided 3.696,021,831 2.206,840,895
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27.

28.

29,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN

{Issued under Circular No. 20002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

Financial income

2024 2023

VND VND
Dividend income 132,259.942.000  130,459,942.000
Interest income from deposits and loans 12,204,146,572 46,068,145.646
Gains from disposal of other investment 15.867,664,000 -

160,331,752,572 176,528,087.646
Financial expenses
2024 2023
VND VND
Reversal of allowance for investments (2,912,688.774) (1.261.697,575)
General and administration expenses
2024 2023
VND VYND
Staff costs 9,777,079,338 9,835,220.996
Depreciation 445324.764 452,344,630
Taxes, fees and charges 1,571,301.911 540,157,074
Outside services 4,539,999,551 4.601,480.267
Other cash expenses 3,138,905,604 2,838,356.,768
19.472,611,168 18,267.559,735
Other income
2024 2023
VND VND
Gain from disposals of fixed assets 414.829.966 204,545.455
Others 1,417,181.704 1,054,686.280
1.832.011.,670 1,259,231,735
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30.

32.

(a)

(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Notes to the separate financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Other expenses

Depreciation expense of temporarily idle assets

Net book value of fixed assets disposed
Others

Business costs by element

Staff costs
Depreciation
Outside services
Other expenses

Income tax

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Accounting profit before tax

Tax at the Corporation’s tax rate
Non-deductible expenses

Tax exempt income

Tax losses utilised

Applicable tax rates

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Cirenlar No. 200/2014/TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Minisiry of Finance)

2024 2023
VND VND
169,871,792 342,795,660
» 651,927,362
1,127,690,099 1,230,038.822
1,297.561,891 2.224,761,844
2024 2023
VND VND
9.815.233.578 9.961,940,665
2.136.387.016 946,186,931
4,501,845,311 5,175,861,748
6.715,167,094 4,047,615.,626
2024 2023
VND VND
145,747,378.611 160.281,191.864
29,149,475,722 32,056,238,373
417,693.167 432,472,972
(26,451,988.400)  (26,091,988.400)
- (3,700,277,049)
3,115,180.489 2,696,445,896

Under the current Law on Corporate Income Tax, the Corporation has an obligation to pay the

government income tax at the rate of 20% of taxable profits.
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33,

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

(continued)

Significant transactions with related parties

Form B 09 - DN
flssued under Circular No. 20072014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 af the Ministry of Finance)

In addition to related party balances disclosed in other notes to the separate financial statements, the
Corporation had the following significant transactions with related parties during the year:

Parent company

Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company
Dividends paid

Increase of capital contribution by purchasing shares

Subsidiaries

Moc Chau Dairy Carttle Breeding Joint Stock Company
Sales of goods and services

Dividends received

Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited
Capital contribution

Advance for project transfer

Sales of goods and services

Purchase of goods

Vietnam Dairy Cow One-member Company Limited
Purchase of goods, raw materials

Associates
Hanoi Peter Hand Animal Developing Co., Ltd.
Income from profit sharing

Key management personnel compensation

Members of Board of Directors

Total remuneration

Mr, Nguyen Hong Bach — Member

Mr. Le Thanh Liem — Member

Mr. Do Hoang Phuc — Member

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — Member (from 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — Member (until 23/4/2024)
Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — Member (until 27/4/2023)

Transaction value

2024
VND

87.890,625,000

2023
VND

70,312,500,000
410,156,250,000

838,789,288 725,703,982
130,459.942,000  130,459,942,000
751,893,000,000  351.900.000,000
786,909,567,947 45,949.,005.870

1,638,225,329 348,357,769
63.023,108 33,033,462
83,367,000 -

1,800,000,000 -
2024 2023

VIND Million

384

96
96
96
66
30

VND Million

384
96
96
96

64
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to the separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
(continued)

Form B 09 - DN
(Issued under Circular No. 2002014/ TT-BTC
dated 22 December 2014 of the Ministry of Finance)

2024 2023
VND Million VND Million

Board of Management

Total remuneration 1,236 1,120
Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh — General Director 650 129
Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam — General Director

(from 1/5/2023 to 19/10/2023) - 281
Mr. Trinh Quoc Dung — General Director (until 1/5/2023) - 242
Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam - Deputy General Director

(from 1/3/2024) 271 -
Ms. Pham Ngoe Tram - Deputy General Director

(from 1/10/2024) 265 -
Mr. Tran Chi Son — Deputy General Director (until 29/2/2024) 50 346
Mr. Neguyen Dang Khoa — Deputy General Director

(until 25/4/2023) - 122
Supervisory Board

Total remuneration 240 240
Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran — Head of Supervisory Board

(from 23/4/2024) 66 -
Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu — Head of Supervisory Board

(until 23/4/2024) 30 96
Mr. Trinh Cong Son — Member 72 72
Mr. Truong Anh Vu — Member 72 72

34. Comparative information

Comparative information as at 1 January 2024 was derived from the balances and amounts reported in
the Corporation’s separate financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023,

20 March 2025

Prepared by: Reviewed by:

/ﬁfd%— Y
‘n ——
Hoang Manh Cuong Neuyén Duc Nam
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director General Director
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company

Corporate Information

Establishing Documents

Board of Directors

Board of Management

Supervisory Board

Registered Office

Auditor

Decision No. 862 NN-TCCB/QD dated 21 June 1996 of the
Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development with respect to
restructuring of entities affiliated to the Ministry of Agriculture &
Rural Development.

The Corporation was transformed te Vietnam Livestock
Carporation — Joint Stock Company under Decision No. 1893/QD-
TTg dated 14 December 2012 of the Prime Minister.

Enterprise Registration Certificate No. 0100104443 was initially
issued by Hanoi Department of Planning and Investment on 30 June
2010. The Enterprise Registration Certificate has been amended
several times, the most recent of which is dated 16 November 2023
(the 12" amendment).

Ms. Mai Kieu Lien Chairman
Mr, Nguyen Hong Bach ~ Member
Mr. Le Thanh Liem Member
Mr. Do Hoang Phuc Member

Mr. Trinh Phuong Nam Member (until 23/4/2024)
Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh Member (from 23/4/2024)

Mr. Doan Quoc Khanh General Director

Mr. Nguyen Duc Nam
Ms. Pham Ngoc Tram
Mr. Tran Chi Son

Ms. Tran Thai Thoai Tran
Ms. Ha Thi Dieu Thu

Mr. Trinh Cong Son

Mr. Truong Anh Vu

Deputy General Director (from 1/3/2024)
Deputy General Director (from 1/10/2024)
Deputy General Director (until 1/3/2024)

Head of Supervisory Board (from 23/4/2024)
Head of Supervisory Board (until 23/4/2024)
Member
Member

519 Minh Khai, Vinh Tuy Ward
Hai Ba Trung District, Hanoi

Vietnam

KPMG Limited
Vietnam
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KPMG Limited

46th Floor, Keangnam Landmark 72
E6 Pham Hung Street, Me Tri Ward
South Tu Liem District, Hanoi, Vietnam
+84 (24) 3946 1600 | kpmg.com.vn

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders
Vietnam Livestock Corporation - Joint Stock Company

We have audited the accompanying Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of
40,145,438 ordinary shares of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (‘the
Corporation”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 and explanatory notes thereto (‘the Report
on Utilization of Capital”) which was authorised for issue by the Corporation's Board of
Management on 20 March 2025, as set out on pages 4 to 7.

Management’s Responsibility

The Company's Board of Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Report on Utilization of Capital in accordance with Note 2 to the Report on Utilization of Capital,
and for such internal control as Board of Management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of the Report on Utilization of Capital that is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error,

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the Report on Utilization of Capital is free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Report on Utilization of Capital. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Report
on Utilization of Capital, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Corporation's preparation and fair presentation
of the Report on Utilization of Capital in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’'s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies adopted and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation’s
Board of Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Report on Utilization
of Capital.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

HPMG Limited, 8 Vietnamese one member limited Eability company and & member firm of the
HPMG global organization of independent member firms 2fillated with KPMG International Limited,
a private English company limitad by guarantas, All rights reserved.
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Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the financial information in the Report on Utilization of Capital of Vietnam Livestock
Corporation — Joint Stock Company for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described
in Note 2 to the Report on Utilization of Capital.

Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 to the accompanying Report on
Utilization of Capital which describes the basis of accounting for preparation of the Report on
Utilization of Capital. This Report on Utilization of Capital is intended for the Corporation's Board
of Management to report to the State Securities Commission, Hanoi Stock Exchange, the Board
of Management and shareholders of the Corporation. As a result, the Report on Utilization of
Capital may not be suitable for other purposes. Our audit report is intended solely for the
Corporation and its Board of Management, and should not be used for any other purposes.

KPMG Limited

C O

Pham Thi Thuy Linh Phan My Linh
Practicing Auditor Registration Practicing Auditor Registration
Certificate No. 3065-2024-007-1 Certificate No. 3064-2024-007-1

Deputy General Director

Hanoi, 20 March 2025
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(b)

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Pursuant to the provisions of Decree 155/2020/ND-CP detailing the implementation of a number of articles
of the Law on Securities, Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (“the Corporation™) is
pleased to report the utilization of capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as follows:;

General information about the issuance

1. Name of valuable papers : Ordinary shares

2. Currency : Vietnamese Dong (VND)

3. Total issued shares : 40,145,438 shares

4. Par value : VND10,000/share

5. Form of issuance : Public offering of shares to existing shareholders
6. Total proceeds from the issuance 1 VND562.036,132.000

Official Letter No. 6332/UBCK-QLCB dated 21 September 2023 of the State Securities Commission on
the results of the public offering of shares.

Report on Utilization of Capital

According to Resolution No., 09/2024/VLC/NQ-HDQT dated 20 March 2024, the Board of Management
of Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company has approved the plan to use the proceeds from
the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares to increase the Corporation’s capital contribution in Japan
Vietnam Livestock Company Limited — a joint venture company of the Corporation and Sojitz Group of
Japan, thereby, Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited will implement the beef cattle breeding
project and the slaughter, processing and preservation of beef and beef products (“the Beef Cattle Project™).

The beef cattle project consists of two component projects as follows:

The project “Investment for farm renovation, conversion from raising pigs to raising beef cattle,
construction of a slaughter, processing, storage, and distribution facility in Tam Dao™ based in Tam Dao
District and Binh Xuyen District of Vinh Phue Province, was granted the Investment Policy Decision No.
2216/QD-UBND dated 12 August 2021 by the People's Committee of Vinh Phuc Province, while the
Corporation was approved as the investment owner of the project, with a total expected investment of
VNDI1.,670 billion (“Tam Dao Project”). Tam Dao Project is the main component of the Beef Cattle
Project. whereby the Corporation shall be the investment owner of the Tam Dao Project until the
construction is completed and meets the conditions for project transfer in accordance with the current law,
then the Corporation shall transfer the Tam Dao Project to Japan Vietnam Livestock Company Limited for
further implementation and operation; and

Breeding and fattening facilities for beef cattle to supplement the Tam Dao Project.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Report on Ultilization of Capital
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company
Notes to Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2024

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Report
on Utilization of Capital.

Reporting entity

Ownership structure

Vietnam Livestock Corporation — Joint Stock Company (““the Corporation™) is incorporated as a joint
stock company in Vietnam,

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Corporation are as follows:

- Raising cattle and produce cattle breeds;

- Raising pigs and produce pig breeds:

- Processing milk and dairy products;

- Processing and preservation of meats and meat products:

- Trading real estates, land use rights of owners, users and lessees; and

- Warehousing and goods storage.

Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted by the Corporation in the preparation
of this Report.

Statement of compliance

The Report on Utilization of Capital comprises financial information relating to the utilization of capital
from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares for the period from | January 2024 to 31 December
2024 and is part of the document submitted to the Corporation's Board of Management to report to the

State Securities Commission, Hanoi Stock Exchange, the Board of Management and shareholders of

the Corporation.

The Report has been made on the basis of the Corporation's accounting records and supporting
documents.
Basis of measurement

This Report on Utilization of Capital has been prepared on the cash basis using the historical cost
concept. Under this method, capital used is recognised when payment is made
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Vietnam Livestock Corporation - Joint Stock Company
Notes to Report on Utilization of Capital raised from the issuance of 40,145,438 ordinary shares
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (continued)

(¢)  Accounting and presentation currency

The Report has been prepared and presented in Vietnamese Dong (“VND™).

20 March 2025
Prepared by: Reviewed by:
Hoang Manh Cuong Nguyen Due Nam - P
Chief Accountant Deputy General Director (" mera! Director
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